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Five Year Financial Summary

O FMB M E

For the year ended 31 December
BEF-HA=Z+—HILHE

2020 2021 2022 2023
CRCOEE DR FE ZECT —F=
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
A F%5t %0 R
OPERATING RESULTS REEK
Revenue A 3,876 5,723 8,551 7,338 6,394
Gross profit EF 602 1,508 2,462 2,524 2,904
Finance costs S A (5,625) (5,134) (2,402) (862) (731)
Loss before tax EREGIN i (133,192) (37,971) (29,510) (74,448) (8,786)
Income tax expense e 1584 BH 3¢ - — (17) (520) (673)
Loss for the year 4 R (133,192) (37,971) (29,527) (74,968) (9459)
(Restated)
(B 5)
Loss per share (in US dollar) R R (£0) (0.53) (0.10) (0.02) (0.80) (0.10)
As at 31 December
R+_H=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023
CERCEE B E CECE TS
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
F#iT F#t F*£50 RV
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES B B A
Non-current assets Fe i mh 180,090 128,400 104,908 34,763 29,141
Current assets WE G 5,519 7,476 9,913 10,022 7,252
Total assets A 185,609 135,876 114,821 44,785 36,393
Convertible notes ] A A (53,373) (35,593) (13,684) (8,898) (9,620)
Other liabilities Hopth 1 £ (8,611) (6,605) (4,123) (2,768) (3,114)
Total liabilities AEAEH (61,984) (42,198) (17,807) (11,666) (12,734)
Net assets & B 123,625 93,678 97,014 33,119 23,659
Equity attributable to owners V/NEIE 2PN
of the Company JREAG HE 25 106,103 78,690 83,580 27,840 18,916
Non-controlling interests I 72 B b £ 17,522 14,988 13,434 5,279 4,743
Total equity HE 5 K3 123,625 93,678 97,014 33,119 23,659

Mzt : E T =4+ " A=+—H L UEEE
RIEBURR R ZRE s B —F - 2
EOCERCECEFFAZF—HWE
B e BT Bk A AR T4 A I AR R -

Note: The annual results for the four years ended 31 December 2023, and the
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 have
been extracted from the Company’s respective years’ annual reports.
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Dear Shareholders:

I present, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Silkwave Inc (the “Company”), the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

As the Group continues embark on the groundbreaking journey of
establishing our next-generation data distribution leveraging our satellite
broadcasting platform, I am filled with immense optimism about the
transformative potential this venture holds. In an era defined by rapid
digitalisation and the insatiable demand for seamless connectivity,
satellite technology stands at the forefront of revolutionising how data is
distributed globally.

The future of data distribution lies in bridging the gap between
accessibility, speed, and reliability. Our satellite platform is not merely
capable to broadcast content, it is a gateway to unlocking opportunities
across industries. From delivering high-speed internet to remote and
underserved regions to enabling real-time data transmission for IoT
networks, smart cities, and telemedicine, satellites will redefine how
societies and businesses operate. Emerging markets, in particular, will
benefit from our ability to bypass traditional infrastructure limitations,
fostering economic growth and digital inclusion.

Moreover, the convergence of satellite technology with advancements
in Al, 5G, and edge computing opens unprecedented avenues. Imagine
agricultural sectors leveraging satellite data for precision farming,
or disaster management systems relying on instant satellite feeds for
life-saving coordination. Even entertainment and education will transcend
boundaries, offering immersive, high-bandwidth experiences to billions.

While exploring the potential of the satellite data distribution, the Group
will also looking for opportunity to diversify the existing trading business
in the technology sector to meet the ever-changing marketplace.

The Company would like to express its appreciation to our staff for our
achievements to date. The board of the Company wishes to extend its
gratitude to the continuous support from its shareholders, customers, and
business partners. We will continue to charge ahead in 2025 to create
greater value for our shareholders and stakeholders.

WONG Chau Chi
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEER DT

REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst
its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of Convergent
Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB”), trading of printed circuit
board (“PCB”) and Artificial Intelligence (“AlI”) related products, and
satellite infotainment multimedia technology and services (the “Satellite
Infotainment”) for data and contents distribution by satellite.

The Group’s LPTV portfolio boasts an exciting array of programming,
featuring everything from engaging local news and thrilling sports
coverage to vibrant community events and sought-after syndicated
content from major networks in the US. This diverse lineup is driven
by the Group’s commitment to delivering valuable programming that
resonates with viewers and enriches local communities across the U.S.

Despite the challenges posed by this rapidly changing landscape, the
Group remains optimistic and forward-thinking about its position in the
U.S. TV market. It is dedicated to fostering collaborations with other
broadcasters and partners, ensuring it stays competitive and relevant in
the ever-evolving world of TV entertainment. With a focus on innovation
and community engagement, the Group is excited about the prospects that
lie ahead, ready to embrace the future of broadcasting.

The Trading business encompasses our PCB trading operations and
various technology components utilised in Al-related applications.
As technology continues to evolve at a rapid pace, maintaining
competitiveness presents challenges. However, the market is increasingly
receptive to incorporating Al-related hardware and technology, which can
significantly enhance operational efficiency and flow.

The Group is committed to exploring new opportunities to diversify our
product offerings within the Trading Business. This strategic expansion
aims to scale our operations in a light-asset manner, enhancing both
profitability and margins. Our primary focus will remain on trading
high-tech components and products, particularly connectivity devices,
which are vital in powering the next generation of technology.

6 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2024

505 7 o] A

ARy T B I BB B T LB
] RIS S R M e R B SR A A 2 B
& (TCMMB ) ~ BV Rl 56 B AR ([ B Rl 56 B Al )
K N T e ([ALL) AR BH E &b & 2 L R o i
By SRR I N 2 R 1 B A AR I 4R 2 RS
il B Wi 5 ([ 4 2 all e 4 1) o

ALEBWLPTVH G A — 2514 AL E W
H o> AL3E 51 A 1 A #8388 A0
B8 H R - DL R IS 0 AL IR TS B AN 95
T A AR BT B B R 2R o AR T BN R R
MAGENEE o SERE LI I
2 B A AL L -

filh /e T B i 35 TR PR A8 AL A 20 1 ML PR BB
7 B2 11 475 365 HL A 9% I T i 35 1 b o £ 41 4
BLICHITE A RB o AR 552 B 257 1 AR e B A g
AN SR (AN VR N (SRR AN [ 3
JE B A e e IR R AR R B MO BT -
A B P ST AR B A i 22 B > 3 O A R
() T 357 70 388 00 74 S0 e 240 e VB A

2 5y 6755 EL 4 EIV I T8 % AR B SE S B e R
ATAR Bl 45 38 1) 22 65 i 2 50 F o S 5 5 1l 19
NP R TR ANR o SR T
S5 B 5 AR B8] B 1 B 00 #) € 32 BE IE A B
$& Tt > F5 1% RE B 0 o A 2R S O AR IR
B o

AAE BB RO A > B 5y 365 Y E A
M ZHRAL o BLUERG IR B 7E DL E 1
7 2 MROR B 8 R - E T 42 755 L A BE ) AR
R o JRAM I T B A B R R R B A
AN i BB 5 > A R AR T R M O T -
SEREMENER T MR R R EE



Management Discussion and Analysis

By staying ahead of trends and embracing emerging technologies, the
Group is excited about the prospects for growth and success in the
evolving trading landscape. We believe that our proactive approach will
not only bolster our competitive edge but also contribute to a thriving
future as a key player in the high-tech trading market.

The Company has been developing satellite based broadcasting service
business with its associate company Silkwave Holdings, which is the
main service operator with a full-fledged satellite and technology
platform. While the Company only owns 20% in Silkwave, it is the
major strategic and value-added service provider to Silkwave. While
the satellite service sector operates within geographical constraints, the
Group remains cautious about related developments.

Satellite-based infotainment can deliver seemless connectivity to
smartphones, vehicles and any smart devices. Enhance multimedia
experience and make long journeys more enjoyable. While the satellite
platform will play a crucial role in smart city projects by providing data
from traffic patterns to emergency alerts. The rollout of 5G technology
will complement satellite systems by providing faster data transmission
speeds and lower latency. This synergy can lead to more sophisticated
infotainment applications, such as augmented reality navigation and
immersive gaming experiences.

The Group continues to explore alternative use cases to leverage its
satellite platform, aiming to create value for shareholders. This includes
initiatives such as renting out spare satellite capacity and providing
satellite-related services, capitalising on the Group’s expertise and
experience in the aerospace field.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded loss for the
year of approximately US$9.5 million (2023: approximately US$75.0
million). Loss per share of the Company (the “Share”) was approximately
US$0.10 (2023: approximately US$0.80) and net assets per share of the
Group was approximately US$0.26 (2023: approximately US$0.02).

For the Year, the Group is engaged in the provision of transmitting and
broadcasting television programs and trading of products with a revenue
of approximately US$6.4 million (2023: approximately US$7.3 million).
The decrease in revenue of approximately US$0.9 million was mainly due
to the decrease in the trading Business, especially on the trading of Al
products, as a result of sluggish economic condition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R =R YN

Cost of sales mainly includes costs of goods sold, staff costs and
operating lease payments. The decrease in cost of sales of approximately
US$1.3 million was due to an decrease in direct costs and costs of sales
for the Year.

Gross profit increased from approximately US$2.6 million in 2023 to
approximately US$2.9 million in 2024, which arose primarily from higher
broadcasting service income.

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately US$3.0 million
in 2023 to approximately US$0.9 million for the Year, mainly due to
implement of cost control in the Year.

Market development and promotion expenses has decreased as
compared to 2023, which include consultancy services fees for business
development, travelling expenses for attending business conferences and
meetings as well as research and development costs. The decrease is
driven by implement of cost control in the Year.

Finance costs of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
US$0.7 million (2023: approximately US$0.8 million) which mainly
represented effective interest expense on convertible notes. The Group
did not bear any bank and other borrowings during the Year.

Management evaluated the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) by way of objective evidence, including
but not limited to business forecasts and project timelines, etc.

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$0.5 million (2023:
approximately US$49.6 million) for its 20% interest in Silkwave
Holdings Limited (“Silkwave”).

Silkwave has been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite assets
such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years Silkwave
has completed its network infrastructure, technology, and ecosystem
platform and has been conducting trial services throughout China. It has
been awaiting regulatory approvals from various government agencies to
launch its commercial services, which in turn will allow the Company to
start generating revenues. Due to numerous government delays, and the
expected regulatory approvals have not yet arrived, and Silkwave cannot
commence commercial services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As there are increasing recognition of satellite service and application
in the market, With the Covid situation finally came under control
and China reopen the border in the early 2023 after three years of
lockdown, the Company will continue to work on regulatory approval and
commercial service roll-out for the PRC as well as other ASEAN market
to seek opportunities for potential use of unutilised satellite capacity.

Decrease in shared loss in 2024 was mainly due to, the management
has reassessed and revised its commercial operations and the expected
cashflow and revenue streams associated with the business due to the
delay in the regulatory and high-power satellite procurement in 2023,
hence reduction in the valuation of the Silkwave assets is resulted.

Silkwave has been in negotiation of leasing out spare satellite bandwidth
to other aerospace operators in who had communication needs, given the
satellite bandwidth is scale asset for communication between satellites
and ground station and receiver. This allow Silkwave effectively utilise
existing satellite resource for profit generating activities.

The impairment loss recognised on intangible assets for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately US$4.8 million (2023:
approximately US$20.2 million) as management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of the
cash generating units arising from intangible assets by reference to a
value-in-use (“VIU”) calculation, which has been consistently applied in
previous year.

Due to increasing challenge in the LPTV market as technology advances,
LPTV operators face competition from a range of other media, including
traditional broadcasters, streaming services, and social media platforms.
The Group had managed to keep pace with the changes in broadcasting
and distribution methods, but had to account for potential change in
the broadcasting landscape for the LPTV market in the US. A more
conservative approach was carried out on the future market expansion
and revenue streams associated with the business, therefore reduction in
valuation lead to make the necessary impairment of its LPTV assets.

Despite increasing challenge in the LPTV market, the Group remain
positive to continue its presence and will focus on content diversification
and collaborate with new content providers to navigate through the
challenge and position ourselves for long-term success.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEER DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity attributable to the owners of the Company decreased to
approximately US$18.9 million as at 31 December 2024 as compared
with approximately US$27.8 million in 2023 which was mainly derived
from suffering loss for the year.

Current assets amounted to approximately US$7.3 million (2023:
approximately US$10.0 million) comprising bank balances and cash of
approximately US$0.9 million (2023: approximately US$0.7 million),
trade and other receivables of approximately US$1.6 million (2023:
approximately US$3.8 million), amount due from a related company of
approximately US$4.8 million (2023: approximately US$5.5 million), and
amount due from an associate was nil (2023: Nil).

Current liabilities amounted to approximately US$3.1 million (2023:
approximately US$2.7 million) representing trade and other payables of
approximately US$1.5 million (2023: approximately US$1.6 million),
lease liabilities of approximately US$0.02 million (2023: approximately
US$0.3 million) and tax payable of approximately US$1.5 million (2023:
approximately US$0.9 million). As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
current ratio was approximately 2.33 (2023: approximately 3.66).

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 were
mainly denominated in United States Dollars, Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury
operations and lower its borrowing cost. As such, the Group endeavours
to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to address
short-term funding needs. The Board also considers various funding
sources depending on the Group’s needs to ensure that the financial
resources have been used in the most cost-effective and efficient way
to meet the Group’s financial obligations. The deposits of the Group at
various licensed banks have been and will continue to be conducted in
accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. The Board reviews and
evaluates the Group’s treasury policy from time to time to ensure its
adequacy and effectiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDEBTEDNESS

Convertible notes of the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately US$9.6 million (2023: approximately US$8.9 million).
The gearing ratio (a ratio of total loans to total assets) was approximately
26.4% (2023: approximately 19.9%), reflecting the Group’s financial
position was at a optimal level. Other than convertible notes, the Group
did not have any bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, neither the Group nor the Company has any
significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group and the Company did not have any
significant capital commitments (2023: Nil).

PLEDGE OF/CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, neither the Group nor the Company has pledged
or charged its assets to secure its borrowings (2023: Nil).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not enter into any material
off-balance sheet transactions (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

Most of the assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group are
denominated in United States dollars. The management of the Group
considers that foreign exchange risk does not have significant impact to
the Group, therefore, the Group did not make any hedging arrangement
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEER DT

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The average number of employees of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately 17 (2023: approximately 22). The
Group’s staff costs (including Directors’ fees and emoluments) for
the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately US$0.6
million (2023: approximately US$2.3 million). The Group offers a
competitive remuneration package to retain elite employees, including
salaries, medical insurance, discretionary bonuses, other fringe benefits as
well as mandatory provident fund scheme for employees in Hong Kong.
The remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed annually and is in line
with the prevailing market practice. Share options would be granted to
respective employees with outstanding performance and contributions to
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, there were no significant investments held,
nor were there any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group is actively exploring other business opportunities and
diversify its revenue stream and bring better return to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”™).

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors currently do not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets. The Directors will
continue to monitor the industry and review its business expansion plans
regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s best interests.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 11 February 2025, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 5,700,000 new
shares for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$4,845,000
at the subscription price of HK$0.85 per subscription share. The
subscription was completed on 24 February 2025. The intent of the
proceeds was to payment of professional fee and general working capital
for the Company.

Details refer to the prospectus and the announcement dated 11 February
2025 and 12 February 2025 respectively. Apart from those disclosed
herein, there were no significant event after the reporting period and up to
the date of this announcement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PROSPECTS

As the Internet of Things (IoT), smart devices, and consumer electronics
proliferate, the demand for high-quality PCBs is escalating. These
components are essential for the functionality of everything from
smartphones to home automation systems, providing a robust market for
trading. With increasing awareness around environmental issues, there is
a significant shift towards sustainable electronics. Trading in eco-friendly
PCBs and Al components designed for energy efficiency can attract
environmentally conscious consumers and businesses, opening new
avenues for growth. The Group will continue to explore the possibility on
expanding the trading product variety within the technology sector.

CMMB/LPTYV BUSINESS

In recent years, the LPTV market in the US has experienced remarkable
transformations, fueled by the digital switchover, the emergence of
innovative technologies, and evolving regulatory policies. These changes
have opened up new avenues for creativity and collaboration. The
Group has actively partnered with local content providers and fellow
broadcasters, forging strong relationships that enhance the richness of its
programming.

As viewers increasingly shift from traditional TV sets to smartphones,
there is a burgeoning demand for digital TV programming that
embraces interactivity and engagement. This evolution presents an
exciting opportunity to enhance the viewing experience, making it more
immersive and dynamic. The Group is poised to capitalise on this trend,
believing that offering high-quality digital content will not only attract
new viewers but also cultivate loyalty among existing audiences.

As technology enables greater flexibility in broadcasting, LPTV stations
have opportunities to expand into underserved markets or regions with
limited media access. This expansion can enhance their reach and create
new revenue opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The development of satellite multimedia services presents significant
opportunities driven by advancements in technology and growing demand
for connectivity. As consumers and businesses increasingly rely on
high-speed internet and streaming, satellite services can provide reliable
connectivity in remote areas where traditional infrastructure is lacking.
The integration of 5G technology further enhances these services,
enabling faster data transmission and reduced latency, which is crucial
for applications like video conferencing and real-time data services.
Additionally, satellite multimedia can cater to diverse sectors, including
education and healthcare, bridging gaps in access and enhancing user
engagement through interactive and personalised content.

Emerging markets represent a particularly promising area for growth,
as developing regions seek satellite solutions to address connectivity
challenges. Regulatory support from governments can foster collaboration
between public and private sectors, amplifying the reach of satellite
services. By optimising content delivery networks and partnering with
content creators, satellite providers can enhance their offerings and attract
more users. Furthermore, focusing on sustainability and developing
energy-efficient technologies can improve brand reputation and appeal to
environmentally conscious consumers. The future of satellite multimedia
services is bright, with significant potential for innovation and expansion
in a connected world.

Additionally, the development of satellite-connected car multimedia
services aligns with the broader trend towards connected and autonomous
vehicles. Integrating satellite connectivity into car multimedia systems
can contribute to improved safety, enhanced user experience, and greater
convenience for drivers and passengers.

Indeed, the development of satellite-connected car multimedia services is
significantly influenced by geographical and regulatory factors, including
regulatory licensing requirements and concerns surrounding data control
and privacy. These factors can vary greatly between regions and can
impact the feasibility and implementation of such services.

Given these complexities, the Group is adopting a cautious approach
and carefully assessing the business landscape. This includes navigating
regulatory requirements, addressing privacy concerns, and ensuring
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. By doing so, the Group
aims to strategically maneuver its business approach in order to create
value for shareholders while mitigating potential risks associated with
regulatory and privacy challenges.
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Directors and Senior Management

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board consisted of 6 directors
comprising 2 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3
independent non-executive Directors. The information on the Directors is
set forth below.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (“Mr. Wong”), aged 60, was appointed as
an executive Director in May 2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief
executive of the Group, the chairman of the Board and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has extensive
experiences in finance, technology and industrial management, working
for a variety of companies including Goldman Sachs, Citibank, and BNP
Paribas, and McKinsey, and General Electric. Mr. Wong graduated from
the Pomona College in the US with a BA in Economics and International
Relations, from the Harvard Kennedy School of Government with an
MPP, and matriculated by the St. Antony’s College, Oxford reading
Political History. Mr. Wong did not hold any position nor directorship in
other listed companies in the three preceding years.

Ms. WOO Lan Ying (“Ms. Woo0”), aged 57, was appointed as an
executive Director and Vice-Chairperson on 14 May 2024. Ms. Woo is
an entrepreneur operating various businesses, including but not limited
to consultancy and entertainment business. Ms. Woo has extensive
experience in corporate management and project investments. Ms. Woo
also involved in a lot of charitable and community activities and was a
member of the Campaign Committee of The Community Chest of Hong
Kong for the year of 2018/2019. Ms. Woo had been an executive director
and vice chairman of Hing Ming Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8425),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, for the period
from March 2021 to January 2022. Ms Woo (i) had been appointed as an
executive Director since 1 December 2020 and redesignated as chairman
of the board on 30 June 2021 of Jisheng Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8133), and it is listed in the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange;
(i1) had been appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1536), and it
is listed in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 2 July 2024; (iii)
had been appointed as an executive director and chairman of the NOVA
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1360), and it is listed in the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, on 9 January 2025.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENkERhEEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lui Chun Pong (“Mr. Lui”), aged 56, obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Hong Kong, a Master of Laws degree from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Accountancy degree
from Charles Sturt University in Australia and an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. He is also an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Lui has over 30 years of experience in finance and property industry.
Mr. Lui held senior positions at a number of Hong Kong companies
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Lui currently is a non-executive director of
China Ocean Group Development Limited (stock code: 8047), listed on
the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lui also serves the community through his participation in promoting
sports and youth and student’s affairs in Hong Kong. Mr. Lui is a director
of Hong Kong Baseball Association and a member of Student Affairs
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lui was a director of Hong Kong United Youth Association in
2014/2015 and a member of the Budget Proposal 2017-18 Subcommittee
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lui did not hold any position nor
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LI Jun (“Dr. Li”), aged 63, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in June 2007 and re-designated to an independent nonexecutive
director in May 2011. Dr. Li is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company and a member of each of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Li
obtained a doctorate degree for philosophy in political economy from the
Oxford University in the United Kingdom. He was a senior manager and
a director for a number of securities and investment companies in Hong
Kong and had extensive experience in international financial markets.
Dr. Li is an independent non-executive director in Hengxin Technology
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Save as aforesaid, Dr. Li did not hold any position nor directorship in
other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing (“Mr. Chow”), aged 43, he holds a Bachelor
degree in Accounting and Finance from the Queensland University of
Technology, Australia. Mr. Chow is currently the chairman of each of the
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Chow is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He has more than 15 years of experience
in financial management, auditing and accounting in an international
accounting firm and a listed company in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow was an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Finance Investment
Holding Group Limited (stock code: 7), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange during the period from May 2020 to
October 2020. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Chow did not hold any directorship
in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

Mr. TAM Hon Wah (“Mr. Tam”), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Tam
is currently a member of each of the audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Tam is the
managing director of A.I. International Limited and Chief Technology
Officer of PR1 Media Limited. Mr. Tam holds a Master’s degree in
Information Systems Management from University of Greenwich in
United Kingdom, and obtained Diploma in Business Strategy and
Information Technology from National Computer Center, United
Kingdom in 2009. Mr. Tam also holds a number of other public and
community service positions. Mr. Tam is a board member of the
Indonesia Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong, a committee member of
Wan Chai West Area Committee of Home Affairs Department, and the
vice-chairman of Friends of The Community Chest Wan Chai District
Committee. Mr. Tam was also a committee member of the Television and
Radio Consultative Group of the Office of the Communications Authority
from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Tam was awarded the Most outstanding Chapter
President award of Junior Chamber International (ASPAC) in 2006 and
the Most outstanding Chapter President of Junior Chamber International
(Hong Kong) in 2005. Mr. Tam was also awarded the Secretary for
Home Affairs Commendation award in 2012. Mr. Tam did not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LI Qun (“Ms. Li”) is a managing director of our China business
operation. Ms. Li has over 20 years of experience in CMMB/DTH chipset
design and CMMB network system integration. She was the co-founder of
Telepath Technologies Co., Ltd. and the chief operating officer for TiMi
Technologies Co., Ltd., a company formed by the Chinese Academy of
Broadcasting Science at National Radio and Television Administration
(“NRTA”). She holds a bachelor’s degree in Science from the Shanghai
Jiao Tong University and a master degree in Science from the Tsinghua
University.
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures with a view to be a transparent
and responsible organisation which is open and accountable to the
shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders of the Company to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the Company. The
Company believes that effective corporate governance is an essential
factor to create more value for the shareholders of the Company. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices of the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led
by an effective Board in order to optimise return.

ADOPTION AND COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board adopted a set of corporate governance practices which aligns
with or is more restrictive than the requirements set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange. Except for code provision C.2.1, the Board is of the
view that the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Under the current organisation structure of the
Company, Mr. Wong is our chairman and chief executive. With his
extensive experience in the industry, the Directors believe that vesting the
roles of both chairman and chief executive in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, allowing effective
and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and
strategies, and is beneficial to the business prospects and management
of the Group. Although Mr. Wong performs both the roles of chairman
and chief executive, the division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive is clearly established. In general, the chairman
is responsible for supervising the functions and performance of the
Board, while the chief executive is responsible for the management of
the business of the Group. The two roles are performed by Mr. Wong
distinctly. Further, the current structure does not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and management of the Company
given the appropriate delegation of the power of the Board and the
effective functions of the independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors, consisting
of two executive Directors, namely Mr. WONG Chau Chi and Ms. WOO
Lan Ying; one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. LUl Chun Pong;
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LI Jun,
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing and Mr. TAM Hon Wah.

Biographical information of the Directors and the details of the
composition of the Board are set out below and in the Corporate
Information, Directors and Senior Management and Directors’ Report
respectively of this annual report.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management. Both the Board and the management have clearly defined
authorities and responsibilities under various internal control and
check-and-balance mechanisms.

The Board monitors the development and financial performance and sets
strategic directions of the Group’s business.

Matters including material investment decisions, approving financial
statements, declaration of dividend, are reserved to the Board. The
management implements the Board’s decisions, makes business proposals
and reports to the Board on the overall performance of the Group.
Daily operations and administration of the business are delegated to the
executive Directors and the management of the Company.

The Board will make arrangements for holding at least four regular Board
Meetings during each financial year.

At least 7 business days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to all
Directors to provide them with an opportunity to attend and all Directors
are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors at least three days
before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Chairman conducts the proceedings of the Board at all Board
meetings. He ensures that sufficient time is allocated for discussion and
consideration of each item on the agenda and that equal opportunities
are given to the Directors to speak and express their views and share
their concerns. All Directors have access to the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), who is responsible for ensuring
that the Board procedures are complied with and for advising the Board
on compliance matters.
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During the Year, 9 Board meetings were held, and the individual

AAAERE > L H O E R F &R BHE

attendance of each director is set out below: HEME A BRI
Number of
Board meetings
attended/held
LY )
WHY
Name of Director HHEEA LE e i
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) — #RKE Yok (L B # 1T E) 9/9
Ms. WOO Lan Ying (Vice-Chairperson) WIS L ()
(appointed on 14 May 2024) (=R AaFE 7 A7 A H#EZE () 5/5
Mr. WANG Shuhang (appointed on 18 March 2024 and ~FE &Pt (o ~ZF W =H+/UH
resigned on 28 June 2024) JELE(FrR —FE pENH -+ /NH
AFIT) 4/4
Mr. FAN Kaiye (appointed on 18 March 2024 and WElEeA ot —FE pgaE=H -+ /H
resigned on 8 May 2024) FEZAT AL —F A 7 H A H GHE) 171
Mr. HAN Xu (appointed on 18 March 2024 and BRI A (R B E=H A+ UH
resigned on 8 May 2024) FEZALA i —FE = aETHAH
RFIT) /1
Mr. LUI Chun Pong =R e A 9/9
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) (resigned on 18 March BRI AL (B F ) O ZE g = A
2024) T/ H BT 0/1
Mr. YANG Yi (resigned on 28 June 2024) Wik e (ot =& ZpgENH 4+ /UH
BEIT) 0/6
Ms. HO Wing Yan (appointed on 18 March 2024 and il sk ik & £ (o —ZFE ZpgaE = H 4 /UH
resigned on 28 June 2024) FEZ (R —F ZgENH —~+/H
BHIT) 2/2
Dr. LI Jun IR L 9/9
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAd gt 9/9
Mr. TAM Hon Wah w1 T S AR 9/9
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The attendance of each director at the general meeting(s) of the Company 4% & 5 H i A A 4F B 8247 19 AR 2 ) IR A K &r

held during the Year was as follows: Rt Ek R
Number of
general meeting(s)
of the Company
attended/held
BT
A% oy ] i 3R
Name of director wHHEEA REXKE
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) — ¥ FKE Jef (I HIEHATE) 3/3
Ms. WOO Lan Ying (Vice-Chairperson) WA BT L (B E )
(appointed on 14 May 2024) (= H A AP H#EZAT) 3/3
Mr. WANG Shuhang (appointed on 18 March 2024 and ~ F & i 5cE (ot = F ZpE=H+ /U H
resigned on 28 June 2024) FEZEA —EZFENH =4 /UH
BEIT) 1/1
Mr. FAN Kaiye (appointed on 18 March 2024 and el A ot —FE paE=H+/H
resigned on 8 May 2024) FEZAT AL = F = AF 7 H N H GEHE) 0/0
Mr. HAN Xu (appointed on 18 March 2024 and WA (R ZF ZE=H+AH
resigned on 8 May 2024) FEZATa i —FE ZETHNAH
BEIT) 0/0
Mr. LUI Chun Pong = AR S R 3/3
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) (resigned on 18 March BN+ (B F ) (G E A=A
2024) 1/UH GFHE) 0/0
Mr. YANG Yi (resigned on 28 June 2024) Medk e (it = =g aENH = A /UH
BT 0/1
Ms. HO Wing Yan (appointed on 18 March 2024 and gk ik &+ (r ZF = pmaE=H+ /N H
resigned on 28 June 2024) FEZAT R 2 PN /A H
BET) 1/1
Dr. LI Jun ZFH L 3/3
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing RS e 3/3
Mr. TAM Hon Wah R 3/3

The Company has received confirmations of independence from all A/ & & HRAS RS E AT EHARIE L
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing #5853, 13585 S O M flEsd s - MRS
Rules. All of them meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of A1 ML HIEE 3. 13468 il s 1) 8 7 A HE o (Rl > 78
the Listing Rules. Thus, the Board considers that they are independent. HEA LIS ST -
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The Company has also received confirmations from all Directors that they — AN\ A IR E 28 # 25 2 fEGR K > REGRIESE
have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company A% 45 1] & 35 A8 20 ) F B 1A T8 2 B ] Bk
for the Reporting Period. Directors have disclosed to the Company the — JJ o # 3 & [i] A< 2\ 7] % & 1% 25 i 7 vk 5l i 4
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas listed public | 172\ & 8% 41 %% B 4 A 5k 47 09 #5 2 K k8
companies or organisations and other significant commitments, with the DL K Hift 8 KR % > 36 410 W 1 7 2 =) s 4L 4%
identity of the public companies or organisations and an indication of [ 4% Ff M £% A [\ B[] o BbAb > 8 & il 8 1]
the time involved. Also, there is no financial, business, family or other  Hf 4 T {a] BA 15 ~ 275 ~ 3 & 2 H Ath 5 K s A
material or relevant relationship between Board members. B B 1% o

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

35

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors participated in the #%E _-F _WNFE+_H=+—HILFF  #
following continuous professional development: HU BN Y R R

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Chan Chi
(Chairman and Chief Executive)

Ms. WOO Lan Ying (Vice-Chairperson)
(appointed on 14 May 2024)

Mr. WANG Shuhang
(appointed on 18 March 2024 and
resigned on 28 June 2024)
Mr. FAN Kaiye (appointed on
18 March 2024 and resigned on
8 May 2024)
Mr. HAN Xu (appointed on
18 March 2024 and resigned on
8 May 2024)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LUI Chun Pong

Dr. LIU Hui (Vice Chairman)
(resigned on 18 March 2024)

Mr. YANG Yi (resigned on 28 June 2024)

Ms. HO Wing Yan (appointed on
18 March 2024 and resigned on
28 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. LI Jun

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

Attending training Reading materials

organised by updating on
professional new rules and
organisations regulations
HW MR B SE A BB R B
HHEA E 3 iR Be 58 10 iy 14 B
HITHESF -
KR S
(EIEHEEAITE) v v
1 BN EY )
(= aER A+ YA
HEZA(T) v v
FEF WS (O ZF AR
=H A CH EE L
ZEZENH Z A /CHFEE) v v/
WIS A (R ZF A
= EZ A
ZEZMAERLHH GHE) 4 v
WIS (F A
=HACH ELEA
ZE T AE R A CH BEHE) 4 v
HHITHEF
e IR IR S A
B (A L)
(R = FZWFE=H +/UHBHE) v v
RS (= F P AEN
Z A /HEHE) v v
Al sk R e+ (= FE P AaE = A
EANCE: &3y D
ANAZANHBE) v v/
W FPATESE
I 4 v
JH A SE v v
R EE LA v v
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Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an
initial term of one year. The term of each of the non-executive Director
and the independent non-executive Directors shall be automatically
renewable for another successive term of one year commencing from
the next day after the expiry of their then current term of appointment,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”),
unless terminated by a not-less-than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the respective non-executive Director or independent
non-executive Director expiring at the end of the initial term or at any
time thereafter.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have been
delegated by the Board to various Board committees, which review and
make recommendations to the Board on specific areas. The Board has
established a total of three Board committees, and details of which are set
out below.

Each committee consists of Directors and has its terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees setting out their roles and
the authority delegated to them by the Board have been posted on the
designated website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company’s website at www.silkwave.com.hk.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, risk management over the financial reporting
system and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Chow Kin Wing (Chairman), Dr. Li Jun and Mr. Tam Hon
Wah all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed the annual report of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2 Audit Committee meetings
were held, and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

P E - F o NEF A=+ —HIFERF
T B eI B2k &k o IR LA
NG R & R N

Name of Director FHES
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JA S
Dr. LI Jun IR
Mr. TAM Hon Wah EERL O e

Number of
committee
meeting(s)
attended/held
B AT
ZH®

e e i

2/2
2/2
2/2

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee had
performed the following duties:

- reviewed and commented on the interim results and report of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

- reviewed and commented on the annual results and report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024;

- reviewed the financial matters of the Group, the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems;

- reviewed the independent internal control reviewer’s findings and
recommendations;

- reviewed and recommended the reappointment of the external
auditor; and

- reviewed the arrangement for employees of the Group to raise

concerns about possible impropriety in financial reporting, internal
control and other matters.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

A member of the Nomination Committee shall abstain from voting
and shall not be counted in the quorum of a meeting in respect of the
resolution where he or any of his associates has any material interest,
including the recommendation on nomination for appointment of
such person as a Director. The Nomination Committee comprises the
executive Director, Mr. Wong Chau Chi (Chairman) and the independent
nonexecutive Directors, Mr. Chow Kin Wing, Dr. Li Jun and Mr. Tam
Hon Wah.

The Nomination Committee will make arrangements for holding at least
one meeting during each financial year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 1 Nomination Committee
meeting was held, and the individual attendance of each member is set
out below:
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Mr. WONG Chau Chi A A
Dr. LI Jun ZE TR
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Mr. TAM Hon Wah ERE e

Number of
committee
meeting(s)
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iy X F)
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L Ve i

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee had
performed the following duties:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and the board diversity
policy, and made recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

- assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and

- reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on re-election of
retiring Directors.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures for the Company to
select candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The Nomination
Policy could assist the Company to achieve board diversity in the
Company and enhance the effectiveness of the Board and its corporate
governance standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as the
qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken into
consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-executive
Directors, they must further satisfy the independence criteria set out
within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the selection of candidates
should ensure that diversity remains a central feature of the Board, a
range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience would
be considered. The process to identify potential candidates for the Board
would be as follows:

(1) identifying potential candidates, including recommendations from
the Board members, professional search firms and the shareholders
of the Company;

(2) evaluating the candidates based on the approved selection criteria
through methods such as reviewing the resume and conducting the
background checks;

(3) reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and interview
them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan to assess
whether vacancies on the Board would be created or expected due to the
Directors’ resignation, retirement, death and other circumstances and to
identify candidates in advance if necessary. The Nomination Policy will
be reviewed on a regular basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of developing and
maintaining sound and effective corporate governance within the Group
and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is put
in place to continuously review and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group in light of the evolving operating environment
and regularity requirements.

The Board has undertaken the day-to-day responsibility for all corporate
governance function of the Group. All members of the Board are
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in the
written terms of reference adopted by the Board and are as follows:

1.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period, the Directors
have:

- based on a going concern basis;

- selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
and

- made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and
reasonable.

The report of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report from pages 70 to 79 of this report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company had engaged under a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. HO Wing Yan (“Ms. HO”), who was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
until the service contract was ended and Ms. HO resigned as Company
Secretary on 14 May 2024. Mr. WONG Chau Chi, the executive Director,
chairman of the Board and chief executive of the Company, is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company with Ms. HO. Mr. Wei
Hon Sum (“Mr. WEI”) was appointed as the Company Secretary on 14
May 2024. During the year under review, Ms. HO and Mr. WEI have
confirmed that they have complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct governing securities
transactions by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and all Directors have
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group are also subject to compliance with written
guidelines on no less exacting terms than those in the Model Code.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board emphasises on the importance of risk management and
internal controls on the Group’s business operations and development
and acknowledges its overall responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and the review of their effectiveness.

The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of risks it
is willing to accept, while achieving the Group’s strategic business
objectives. The Board also ensures implementation and maintenance of
effective risk management and internal control systems; and oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.
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The Board has delegated the responsibility to physically implement
and maintain the risk management and internal control systems to the
management of the Company. The management, under the supervision
of the Board, has implemented and maintained appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control system, which aims
to manage and reduce (i) risks associated with the Group’s daily
operations; (ii) risks of failing to achieve business objectives; (iii) risks
of asset misappropriation; and (iv) risks of making potential material
misstatements or losses. However, the risk management and internal
control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking into account
the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business, the Board have
sufficient capacity to oversee the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control system and to assess its effectiveness,
and accordingly there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit
function within the Group.

The process to identify, evaluate and manage risks are carried out on a
regular and on-going basis. These processes are summarised as follows:

. Identify risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and
operations.

. Assess the impact and consequence of the identified risks on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

. Prioritise the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment;
and
. Determine the risk management strategies and internal control

processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

. Perform ongoing and regular monitoring of the risk and ensure that
appropriate internal control processes are in place;

. Enhance the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

. Report the results and effectiveness of risk management and
internal control to the Board regularly.
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In relation to the handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Group has implemented in information disclosure policy to ensure
potential inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are
made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy is summarised as
follows:

. Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

. Designated persons and departments to determine further escalation
and disclosure as required; and

. Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and Audit Committee were of the view that the Group had
no material internal control deficiencies and its risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2024, 2023 and 2022 have been audited by Linksfield CPA Limited
(“Linksfield”). Linksfield had been appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 4 January 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of the Company’s former auditor, Confucius International
CPA Limited, on 4 January 2023.

Linksfield will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Linksfield as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Linksfield,
for the Year is set out as follows:
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Services rendered R Bt 2 kB
Audit services (Note) AR ()
Non-audit services Ik 25 % Ik 15

Fee paid/payable
et A E
US$’000

T &5

141

Note: The annual audit service is payable to Linksfield.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders of the Company. The Company
establishes various communication tools to ensure the shareholders of the
Company are kept well informed of timely information of the Company.
These include the annual general meeting, extraordinary general
meetings, the annual and interim reports, announcements, circulars and
notices. Such documents are accessible on the Company’s website at
www.silkwave.com.hk.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”).

Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
selection criteria.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
which would include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

In respect of the gender diversity of the Board, as at the date of the
Annual Report, one of the ten Directors of the Company is female,
representing 10% of the Board. The Company has achieved on a diverse
Board during the period and will continue implementing the board gender
diversity policy in the future to enhance the overall performance of the
Board and the effectiveness of decision-making. It is expected that the
ratio of female Directors will remain at 10% in the following years. The
Company will continue its nomination policy to select suitable candidates
with no gender limitation to be newly appointed Directors in the next few
years.
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company makes certain that the Board has access to independent
views and input through the mechanisms listed below:

—_

The Nomination Committee should review the Board composition
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
annually, in particular the portion of the independent non-executive
Directors and the independence of the independent non-executive
Director who has served for more than nine years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in relation to his/her independence to the
Company. The Company considers all its independent nonexecutive
Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid
conflict of interests, the Directors who are also Directors and/
or senior management of the Company’s controlling shareholders
and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders, would
abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions on the
transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4.  The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
nonexecutive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice
when necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s policy.

The mechanisms to ensure independent views are reviewed by the
Nomination Committee for ensuring independent views and input are
available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms of proportion,
recruitment and independence of independent non-executive Directors,
and their contribution and access to external independent professional
advice.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations on the
remuneration package of Directors and senior management of the Group.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policies and
structure of the remuneration for the Director and senior management
and to set up a formal and transparent procedure for determination of
such remuneration policies. A member of the Remuneration Committee
shall abstain from voting in respect of the resolution regarding the
remuneration payable to him. The Remuneration Committee comprises
Dr. Li Jun (Chairman), Mr. Chow Kin Wing and Mr. Tam Hon Wah, all
of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee will make arrangements for holding at
least one meeting during each financial year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 3 Remuneration Committee
meeting was held, and the individual attendance of each member is set
out below:
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee had
performed the following duties:

- reviewed and made recommendation on policy and structure for
Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration;

- reviewed and approved the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of the Board;

- reviewed and determined on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management; and

- reviewed and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above and in this Annual Report, there were no other
material matters relating to the share option scheme that were reviewed
and/or approved by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended
31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the annual salary of the senior
management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls within the
following bands.
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No. of Senior

Management
w R EE
Nil to HK$500,000 E 500,000 5T
(equivalent to Nil to US$64,051) (R 7 % 64,0513 1) 1
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY o 5 B R

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out the
Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to executive Directors
and non-executive Directors. The Directors’ remuneration policy sets out
the remuneration structure that allows the Company to attract, motivate
and retain qualified Directors who can manage and lead the Company
in achieving its strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s
performance and sustainable growth, and to provide Directors with a
balanced and competitive remuneration. The remuneration policy is,
therefore, aiming at being competitive but not excessive. To achieve this,
remuneration package is determined with reference to a matrix of factors,
including the individual performance, qualification and experience of
Directors concerned and prevailing industry practice. It will be reviewed
and, if necessary, updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
one or more shareholders who hold in aggregate not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an annual
general meeting of the Company and an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company called for the passing of a special
resolution shall be called by not less than 21 days’ notice in writing
and any other extraordinary general meeting of the Company shall
be called by not less than 14 days’ notice in writing. Pursuant to
the CG Code, written notice of an annual general meeting of the
Company and written notice of an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company shall be sent by the Company to all Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days and 10 clear business days respectively
before the meeting. Business day under the Listing Rules means any
day on which the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in
securities.

The procedures for the shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a director of the Company are available and
accessible on the Company’s website at www.silkwave.com.hk.
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To direct enquiries to the Board, the shareholders of the Company
should submit his/her/its enquires in writing with contact details
(including, your registered name, address and telephone number,
etc.) to the Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
1202, 12/F., Guangdong Finance Building, 88 Connaught Road
West, Hong Kong.

Fax: (852) 2159 3399

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name and address of shareholders of the
Company, loss of share certificates or dividend warrants, the
shareholders of the Company can contact the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office at the following:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of providing current and
relevant information to its shareholders (the “Sharcholders”). This
shareholders” communication policy (the “Policy”) aims to set out
the provisions with the objective to ensure that the Shareholders and
potential investors are provided with equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Company, in order to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow Shareholders and potential investors to engage actively with the
Company.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) shall maintain an
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and will regularly review the Policy
to ensure its effectiveness.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders as well as the
stakeholders through periodic disclosure through the Company’s financial
reports (interim and annual reports), annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available all
the disclosures submitted to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKEx”) and other corporate publications on the HKEx’s website and
corporate communications on the HKEx website (www.hkex.com.hk)
and the Company’s website (http://www.silkwave.com.hk).
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Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders shall
be ensured at all times. Any questions, requests and comments can be
addressed to the Company by mail to Room 1202, 12/F., Guangdong
Finance Building, 88 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong, or by email
to co.sec@silkwave.com.hk or through the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited.

The Company believes that communication with Shareholders by
electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way to
distribute information in a timely and convenient manner. Shareholders
are encouraged to access to the corporate communications posted on the
Company’s website to help reduce the quantity of printed copies and
hence reduce the impact on the environment.

The Company’s website will be updated with material posted to the
HKEx website immediately thereafter. Such material includes but not
limited to financial statements, results announcements, circulars and
notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email addresses
and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable them to make any
query in respect of the Company.

The Company has reviewed that the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy has been conducted for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending
the dividend payment of the Company. The Company takes priority to
distributing dividends in cash and shares its profits with the shareholders
of the Company. The dividend distribution decision of the Company
will depend on, among others, the financial results, the current and
future operations, liquidity and capital requirements, financial condition
and other factors as the Board may deem relevant. The Board may also
declare special dividends from time to time. The Dividend Policy will be
reviewed on a regular basis.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendments had been made in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Silkwave Inc (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”’) maintains an unwavering commitment to integrating sustainable
development initiatives into its business operations and management
practices. This commitment represents both our corporate responsibility
and our dedication to creating value for shareholders, customers,
employees, and the broader community. The Group recognises that
achieving long-term success requires excellence beyond financial metrics,
encompassing environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and
robust corporate governance. We are dedicated to continuous innovation
in enhancing our sustainability performance and look forward to
advancing this journey alongside our stakeholders.

BOARD’S ESG GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company is committed to strictly complying with the disclosure
requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide of the Stock Exchange. The Company recognizes the importance
of ESG to the Company’s long-term and stable operation, and has
established effective ESG management and governance mechanisms
to promote the harmonious integration of the Company with the
environment and society, creating sustainable environmental, social
and corporate values. The Company’s Board is the highest authority
and decision-making body for ESG matters, bearing full responsibility
for the Company’s ESG strategies and reports, and supervising the
Company’s ESG-related matters. In 2024, the Company’s Board further
improved the ESG governance system, driving continuous improvement
in the Company’s ESG performance. This report discloses in detail the
progress and achievements of the Company’s ESG work in 2024, and
has been reviewed and approved by the Board of the Company prior to
disclosure. The Board of the Company and all directors guarantee that
there are no false records, misleading statements or material omissions
in the information contained in this report, and bear individual and joint
responsibility for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its
contents.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Environmental, Social, and Governance Report (the “Report”
or “ESG Report”) presents a comprehensive review of the Group’s
sustainable development performance and achievements for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The scope of this Report encompasses our
business operations in Hong Kong, United States of America, Taiwan and
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), with adherence to core reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative measurement, balanced disclosure,
and consistency. These principles enable accurate and thorough reporting
of our ESG performance.

The Group maintains its dedication to achieving sustainable development
objectives through measurable metrics and consistent reporting
methodologies, enabling stakeholders to effectively track our progress
and achievements.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This Report is prepared with reference to Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“HKEx”). The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.
This Report summarised the Group’s performance in corporate and
social responsibilities applying the reporting principles of “Materiality,
Quantitative, Balance and Consistency” as below.
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Materiality The Group has identified the materiality of ESG topics by stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment. The details are explained in the section of “Stakeholders
Communication and Materiality Assessment”
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Quantitative Under feasible situation, the Group recorded, calculated and disclosed quantitative information
and conducted comparisons with past performance, if applicable. Details of the calculation
standards/methods for the reporting of emissions/energy consumptions are disclosed together
with the data tables in relevant sections.

g1t TEAATRE DL » AL ER Sk~ 7HA X BsR B AL EORE > 3l B 18 R BUEAT B (@ ) -
st PR RE VR IH FE RO FH IR 07 1k 0 R 40 R B A IR 5 o ) R R — D R o

Balance In accordance with best practices in corporate disclosure, the Report maintains objectivity
through coverage of the Group’s ESG performance, encompassing both achieved milestones and
identified areas for improvement within our ESG management framework.
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Consistency The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental and social performance indicators is
consistent with that of the previous reporting period.
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SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Information and data contained in this Report are derived from the
Group’s formal internal documents, statistical reports and public
information, after verification by relevant departments. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”)
of the Company who takes the responsibility for the truthfulness,
accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ACCESS TO THE REPORT

This Report is available in electronic version in Chinese and English
languages. Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and
English versions, the English version shall prevail. You may access the
Company’s website at www.silkwave.com.hk and the website of the
HKEx at www.hkexnews.hk for an electronic copy of this report.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes all stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. Stakeholders can provide valuable advice in respect of the
Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development by email
to co.sec@silkwave.com.hk
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has integrated sustainability into its day-to-day business
operations and decision-making step by step. The Board of the Company
serves as the highest governing body for decision-making in ESG matters
and responsible for developing, adopting, and reviewing company-wide
ESG policies, vision, goals, and strategies, as well as identifying,
assessing, managing ESG risks. Going forward, we will continue to
enhance our ESG governance, further strengthen communication with
stakeholders, and improve ESG policies to achieve long-term business
growth.

STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Inputs and feedbacks from our stakeholders are critical to our operations
and business activities. As such, we maintain regular reviews with
internal and external stakeholders to listen to and collect their views and
opinions regarding the Group’s operations and performance. We value
highly these views and opinions from stakeholders, and our Management
Team will carry out materiality assessments internally with the related
managers and externally with related stakeholders through the stated
communication channels as listed below:

Stakeholders Communication Channels
Shareholders/Investors * General meetings
e Information published on websites of
the Group and the HKEX
¢ Direct emails or phone enquiries
¢ Dispatched documents
Employees ¢ Direct meetings with the management
executives
*  Emails
* Annual and regular appraisal
e Organised functions and activities for
the employees
Customers * Day-to-day communication through
front line staff
*  Emails
e Official websites
Suppliers/ e Day-to-day communication through
Service providers/ front line staff
Professional advisors e Regular review of the signed
arrangements by the management
NGO partners * Volunteer activities
* Sponsors and donations
Industry associations » Participation in annual and regular

meetings, conferences, events, etc.
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For 2024, the Group and the stakeholders have identified the following A & “.JU4E > AL E L FF i EWE 7T
material areas and aspects: P g T
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The above ESG material areas and aspects have continued to be strictly
managed and monitored through the Group’s established management
structure, process, policies and guidelines as described in this ESG
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As a sustainable enterprise, the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues are an integral part of the Group’s overall business
strategy and goals. We seek to operate in an economically and socially
ethical environment while balancing the interests of our internal and
external stakeholders, and supporting the communities we work in.
ESG subjects are used to enhance the corporation strategic approach
formulation and maintain a constructive long-term relationship with our
key stakeholders. These matters would cover both internal employees and
external customers, suppliers and the community where we serve.

It is our policy to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and sanctions
which are applicable to our Company and our business, whether through
directly related companies or third parties. We also expect our employees,
agents, consultants, contractors, intermediaries, representatives, suppliers
and business partners to demonstrate ethical principles and observe the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in all professional and personal
dealings. In addition to complying with relevant laws and regulations, the
Company endeavours to integrate environmental protection measures and
community engagement into our business operation.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Company is a leading satellite to mobile operator
headquartered in Hong Kong with our own satellite control
facilities. The Company is conscious of the need to minimise the
environmental, health and safety impacts of our daily operations
and to comply with the relevant environmental laws. The Group has
adopted a “reduce, reuse, repair and recycle” policy to help support
our environment aims, namely, to preserve and maintain a clean
and sustainable environment for future generations. The Group uses
resources in a responsible, efficient and effective manner in order
to contribute to a sustainable society and comply with international
standards and regulations.

Eco-friendly measures, such as reducing emissions, greenhouse
gases, energy and water consumption, more recycling, and careful
disposal of wastes have been incorporated into our operations to
alleviate the business’s impact on the environment. Enhancing
energy efficiency continues to be our biggest challenge as
travelling, paper and package usage, air-conditioning and lighting,
consume a lot of energy, including a heavy reliance on the general
use of electricity for production and broadcasting.

We are committed to protecting the environment and we integrate
sustainability into our business operations through internal policies
and guidelines. As a global citizen, our environmentally friendly
vision was established to safeguard our natural environment and its
ecosystems over time by adopting appropriate policies and practices
in our operations and procedures.
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The Company plans to keep the overall air transportation as
well as auto usage low in order to keep the total output of
emissions to a minimum. Our overall goal is to continue to
reduce overall CO, emissions on an annual basis consistently.

During the Reporting Period, emissions are as follows:

Types of Emissions (Note 1) 2024

Units (kg)
Nitrogen oxides 6.85
Sulphur oxides 0.09
Particulate matter 0.58
Notes:

(1)  The calculation and emission factors are based on “How to
prepare an ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange
(“Appendix 27).

GHG Emission

The Group’s main sources of GHG emissions are direct
emissions from the use of vehicles, indirect emissions from
the consumption of electricity for office operations and other
indirect emissions from the disposal of waste paper. The
Group is implementing feasible measures to achieve the target
of reducing GHG emissions.

During the Reporting Period, GHG emissions are as follows:

GHG (Note 1) 2024

tCO,e

Total GHG emissions 47.67
Scope 1:

Direct emissions (Note 2) 6.12
Scope 2:

Indirect emissions (Note 3) 23.89
Scope 3:

Other indirect emissions (Note 4) 17.66
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Notes:

(1)  The calculation of GHG emissions is based on Appendix 2
and “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purpose) in Hong Kong” issued by
the Environmental Protection Department and Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department of Hong Kong. The GHG
inventory of the Group include carbon dioxide (CO,), methane
and nitrous oxide. All the GHG emissions data are presented in
tonnes of CO, equivalent.

(2)  Scope 1 direct emissions include the daily consumption of
vehicle fuels of the Group. The emission factors are based on
Appendix 2.

(3)  Scope 2 indirect emissions include indirect GHG emissions
generated by the purchased electricity of the Group. The
emission factors are based on Hong Kong Electric Company,
Limited.

(4)  Scope 3 other indirect emissions include other indirect
emissions occurring outside the Group, including waste paper
disposal and business air travels. The emission factors of
methane from waste paper disposal in landfills are based on
Appendix 2 and the carbon emissions from business air travels
are based on the International Civil Aviation Organisation
Carbon Emission Calculator.

Hazardous waste

Although our Company produces limited hazardous waste,
we dispose of items such as florescent tubes, batteries,
waste electrical and electronic equipment and general office
equipment responsibly. As necessary, we hire specialist
contractors and waste collectors to handle the recycling and
manage the removal of such wastes.

Non-hazardous waste

Our non-hazardous waste consists of general office waste
produced at the Company. To ensure our waste disposal
methods are in-line with local regulations, we utilise
professional cleaning service providers and contractors to
handle this waste. When possible, our general office waste
is recycled, reused and repurposed to paper, plastic, glass,
metal and waste products. The recycling of aluminium cans
and plastic bottles saved a total 15.61 kg (2023: 17.44 kg)
of CO, emissions for the year. Our aim is to recycle as much
as possible and reduce CO, emissions in both hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes annually.
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We measure our environmental impact in terms of resource
consumption against these major categories: (1) electricity,
(2) paper usage, (3) packaging and waste, and (4) water
usages. The resources used by the Group consist primarily of
the electricity, paper, waste packaging and water consumed at
the office.

In terms of the overall electricity usage, the Company takes
energy saving measures with LED lighting and light zoning.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total CO,
emission generated from electricity consumption by the
Company was 28,589 kg (2023: 32,667 kg).

The Group continues to practice paper saving techniques,
such as double-sided printing, 2 pages per side printing,
black and white outputs, and print-job tracking to encourage
minimising printing.

The Group has also implemented the collection of waste
paper for effective recycling. The total CO, emissions
generated from the paper consumption by the Company
was 226 kg (2023: 252 kg). With our overall paper saving
incentive, such as all departments of the Group are also
advised to handle documents electronically (except formal
documents which are required to be prepared in hard copies),
our printers are set to default duplex and employees are
encouraged to use both sides of the paper, we have been able
to save a total of 98 kg (2023: 115 kg) of CO, emissions.

The Group orders reusable 5-gallon containers for our water
consumption to minimise waste from individual plastic, metal
and glass containers.
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2)

3)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

Efficient lighting

Electricity zoning

Light and
electricity usage

Duplex printing

Black and white
printing

Multiple-page

printing

Print tracking

Printing quotas

Recycled papers

Recycled

envelopes

Electronic
communications

Facsimiles

/-\—\\ ==
/ﬁ#&%%

LED and energy efficient
lighting installed over the
office area

Air conditioning and light
zoning arrangements in
office to reduce unnecessary
energy waste

Turn off all equipment and
lighting in the office when
not in use and utilise
low-power state and energy
saving options when
equipment is idle

Office printing defaults set
to duplex to reduce paper
wastage

Default black and white
printed output to reduce
dependency on colour toner
cartridges

Print from 2 to 4 pages per
side to reduce paper and ink
usage

Printing is tracked by user
to encourage minimising
excessive usage

Monthly printing quotas are
reviewed in order to keep
printing within or below
these thresholds

Recycled papers are collected
to be reused for printing

Recycled envelopes are
reused for non-private
and non-confidential
information mailings

Communications through
electronic channels instead
of hard copies or printed
correspondences

All facsimile communications
are completed electronic,
without the need for any
paper consumption and are
delivered directly to users’
mailboxes
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1) Packing materials ~ Reuse packing materials for 1)
electronic equipment to
reduce the need to purchase

new packaging

2)  Reuse and recycle
products

Reuse and recycle plastic, 2)
glass and paper products
and bags for office
procurement to prevent
extra waste

3)  Recycle bottles
and cans

Recycle and reuse plastic 3)
bottles and aluminium cans
in office to reduce waste

4)  Plastic take-away
boxes

Reuse plastic take-away boxes — 4)
for food storage in the
office

5)  Garbage collection  Garbage is collected in bulk in ~ 5)
order to eliminate additional

plastic bag wastes

1) Reduce water
related wastage

Minimise water usage and 1)
purchase bulk sized drinking
water instead of individual
bottles to prevent excess
wastage

Due to the nature of the business, apart from the
abovementioned emissions and resources usage, the Group
does not have any significant direct or indirect impact on
the environment or on natural resources in the course of its
operations. In the future, we aim to continue to stride for
environmentally friendly measures and reduce wastes which
storing internal and non-private/non-confidential documents
in e-format or on the cloud instead of printing these and
storing them, improving on the recycle and reuse policies
for paper, plastic, glass, metal, water, and waste products,
and using LED and energy efficient lighting installation and
electricity usages.
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Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

The Group recognises the importance of the identification
and mitigation of significant climate-related issues, and
is committed to managing the potential climate-related
risks which may impact the Group’s business activities.
Therefore, the Group has established a robust set of policy
and procedures to identify, monitor and manage ESG issues,
including climate change. Material climate-related risks are
identified and managed under our enterprise risk management
framework.

Climate-related Issues
Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as extreme cold or heat, storms, heavy rains and
typhoons can disrupt operations by damaging the power grid
or communication infrastructures, obstructing and injuring
our employees on the road or during their work. These events
could disrupt supply chains, interrupt business operations,
and damage the Group’s assets. As countermeasures, the
Group will identify these risks and prioritise those that
have a serious impact to take precautionary measures in the
first place. At the same time, the Group will examine the
possibility of a change of business model to reduce or avoid
these serious effects on business operations.

Transition Risks

There are more stringent climate legislations and regulations
to support the global vision of decarbonisation. For instance,
the Stock Exchange has required the listed companies to
enhance the climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose
enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate
reputation may also be damaged due to failure to meet the
climate change compliance requirements. The companies’
related capital investment and compliance costs thus
increase. In response to the policy and legal risks as well as
the reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors existing
and emerging trends, policies and regulations relevant to
climate and is prepared to alert the top management where
necessary to avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines or
reputational risks due to delayed response.
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SOCIAL

The Group’s success depends heavily on its ability of
attract, retain and motivate talent in the competitive labour
markets. Their development is a critical part of the Group’s
human capital. Attracting and strengthening the engagement
of talent contribute to the sustainability of the Group. The
Company’s greatest asset is our employees who are essential
to the continued success of the business. We strive to attract
and retain talent by providing training and encouraging them
to develop their full potential. Their personal development,
mental health and work-life balance is carefully considered.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s workforce
totals 17 staff (2023: 22 staff) globally, of which males
were 73% (2023: 63%) and females were 27% (2023: 37%).
Fulltime staff were 62% (2023: 54%) and consultants or part
time staff were 38% (2023: 46%). The number of Hong Kong
based staff was 55% (2023: 58%) and elsewhere was 45%
(2023: 42%).

To safeguard employees’ occupational health and safety,
the Group provides a safe, healthy and comfortable working
environment and has complied with relevant rules and
regulations. The Group offers its employees a comprehensive
healthcare insurance coverage. This includes the appropriate
vaccinations and precautions when travelling globally for
business and meetings. We provide a healthy, relaxing
and enjoyable workplace for our people to motivate their
work engagements and commitments. The Company takes
occupational safety as a major management responsibility and
works hard to provide a safe and healthy work environment.
During the year 2024, the Group did not experience any
accident or work injury.

We have designated several recreational and nearby areas
for simple exercises during the work hours. Moreover, a
fully equipped pantry and kitchen area with different kinds
of healthy foods and drinks are provided to our employees
to revitalise them from their work tasks. We believe short
relaxation breaks can boost the performance of daily work
routines. Employees have a spacious work station in a modern
office setting, looking out to a sea horizon with mountains,
which provides a serene workplace environment to help
reduce work fatigue and stimulate higher work performance
from our employees.
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Work-life balance is an important goal for the Group and the
Company caters to this accordingly. Keeping in touch with
external news and updates allow employees to keep abreast
of happenings in the community and globally. Specifically,
as a broadcasting company, multiple live-television and
audio broadcasts are provided to our employees through the
XingYun app, which connects employees with the outside
environment. This connection stimulates creativity including
new and dynamic ideas on sustainable development.

Apart from the office, an agreeable collegiate environment
has been established based on the interaction and socialisation
amongst the staff. Routine gatherings and activities are
held for enhancing communications between departments to
form a productive and harmonious ecosystem. For example,
teambuilding luncheons and dinners plus work-related
gathering events, such as club events, are sponsored regularly
throughout the year. Both formal and informal training
sessions help to reinforce our corporate culture and boost
employee morale.

We sponsor and encourage training, research and
development and skill upgrading activities for our staff which
benefits the Group by adding new ideas for future expansion.
The Group provides a budget for external trainings for
staff annually. In Hong Kong, the average number of hours
per employee was 18 hours of training (2023: 18 hours)
which 25% were female (2023: 25%) and 75% were male
(2023: 75%) and 75% (2023: 73%) were senior and middle
management and 25% were staff (2023: 27%). Moreover, we
sponsored and supported our staff to attend different kinds of
conferences, exhibitions and meetings which related to our
business. For example, professional industrial organisations
and governing bodies held seminars for the employees to
update their professional accreditations such as corporate
governance, technical and technology exhibitions.

In the future, the Company will arrange functions and retreats
for our staff to enhance their teamwork, and communication
and interpersonal skills during the activities. For example,
organising outdoor activities such as boat trips and similar
activities for our staff to enrich their connections with each
other in a casual environment outside of the workplace.
Overall, we aim to correlate employees’ skillsets to the right
trainings, meetings, conferences and exhibitions for acquiring
new skills and opportunities for the staff and the Group.
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The Group fully understands that employing child labour
and forced labour is a violation of basic human rights and
international labour conventions and strictly prohibits the use
of child labour and forced labour in our business operations.
The Group has also complied with all relevant labour
laws and regulations during the year and strives to create
an environment of respect, integrity and fairness for our
employees.

Our commitment to maintaining the highest ethical and
professional standards not only applies to our own business
operations but also those of our suppliers and business
partners. We aim to build trusting supply chain relationships
as we work together to deliver quality services and products.
We partner with respected and reputable companies which
have a long-standing history with the business community.
Any acts of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. We
actively encourage our suppliers to adopt environmentally
and socially responsible behaviour by enforcing our ESG
commitments. Our purchasing and procurement decisions are
integrated with social responsibility considerations in our
supplier selection process.

The Group is committed to offering excellent and reliable
services to our customers. As one of Asia’s leading satellite
operators, we aim to provide with consistency high-quality
services that meet their current and future requirements. The
products and services in which the Company provides are also
scrutinised by our research and development and technical
teams in order to comply with and satisfy all applicable laws
and regulations regionally and globally. The Group is also
committed to protecting the privacy of our customers and
have taken certain steps to ensure our customer’s personal
data are protected against unauthorised use or disclosure.
Personal data collected by the Group will be used or disclosed
only in accordance with our Personal Data (Privacy) Policy
and the Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
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The Group values and upholds integrity, fairness,
transparency and accountability. There was no corruption
and fraud identified. Anti-bribery and anti-corruption
standards are important parts of the Group’s policies and
operating practices which are reinforced by our employees
and communicated to key stakeholders who had dealings with
the Group. The Group’s whistle-blowing policies apply to all
stakeholders including employees, shareholders, customers
and suppliers. The whistle-blowing mechanisms allow
stakeholders to report suspected misconduct, malpractices
or fraudulent activities with confidence. Cases reported are
followed up independently and all cases are reported by the
Group’ s internal audit function to the Audit Committee and
executive management. We expect to maintain the highest
standard of values and integrity in the anti-corruption policies
and update it with the latest news of any anti-corruption
regulations and laws to our employees. During the year, the
Group was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
anticorruption.

Caring for the society and taking suitable action by acting
as a corporate citizen build up meaningful and supportive
relationships within the communities which we serve. Our
corporation values education as it is the foundation to
building up innovative and meaningful communities which
fosters the education cycle again in society. We sponsored
different higher education institutions and research and
development partnerships for improving their education
quality to foster talent for the technology industry and even
for the whole community. Specifically, we established the
CMMB Vision-University of Washington Joint Research
Centre on Satellite Multimedia and Connected Vehicles
with the University of Electronic Science & Technology
of Electrical Engineering in Seattle, and also the Joint-
Laboratory with the University of Electronic Science &
Technology and the Telematics Industry Applications
Alliance in China which is dedicated to satellite-LTE
integrated multimedia services.

SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AL BN R AT~ A B
B RORYE AT - HANE B A AR
W o SRS S S B TS RS Ty AR AR
B R B R R 2 R o
B b JH AR Y > Slf i BELAS A ) 22
SR B LR R - AL
) 2 R B 0 R BT A R i AR
AL EE T R - FF K
PR > BN LRI TEAR B UL
BRRBREEAE ~ PRECEURTEIT B o
I8 52 40 48 g S B A 5 Sl Pl AR B T 2
AT R M A & B AT
U PR M o FRAM & AR K IR
V5 0 K CAT AR B 1 e
W I 1) L T8 i S S Bl oL B
WL SR A G o AR AR
SO A R AT iy 7 S AR 4R T AT B
BT B R R B ik SRR

I S A [ K% R SR M 2 47 ) 2 AR
Ty A S0y RO LA BRI AE 2 AL [
SEAT RS SR TR R BAR o FRAM
BAEBRANBET NS TEE
SERVH Y R SR AL A AL g
W REFT o JT LAFRAM & B A [ 9 75 2
BOH BT R WP A B AR DL ok
BAEHERUEETMERMNITEAN
ATy B RARAL G o QA< e ) S Y
W Y 2 K B O B TR R B
ST — FERILFE AR EE D 5 3t
[F] 8 < fher 2 2 15 S 0 g A 9
(1) 5 3 15 BT T 8% o 7R B o B 5 1R
K B Je B AR e 5 E 2K T
T B o ok > A PP B AR I 7]
DACPREE T IR FEEA S Rl
BEBE] > E- DB ERERE
MR B S



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
285 I oS Q== R

High-quality Working Environment

The Company is committed to creating better office and service facilities
for employees and improving their happiness.

. An air purification system was installed to improve office air
quality
. The green space was increased in office areas

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Meeting and exceeding our ESG sustainability achievements are
supported by directors, management and employees within the Group as
we continue to achieve our goals and meet stakeholders’ expectations.
Continuous motivation for our talents to reach for higher achievements,
build up harmonious relationships amongst our stakeholders and serve
our community with meaningful and constructive relationships are key
attributes we strive for. In the coming 12 months, the Group will focus
on several aspects to achieve higher sustainability including environment
preservation, talent development, society and community involvement.
The sustainability of the Group’s ESG policies will be carefully
considered when pursuing our future business endeavours. The Group
has and will continue to cultivate a culture of caring for our environment,
people and community.
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Directors’ Report
EERWEE

The Directors present their annual report and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development
and a description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 and 6 to 14 of the annual report
respectively. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is committed to promoting sustainable development and
focusing on environmental protection in its business operations.
Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group to ensure the
business is conducted in an environmentally-friendly manner.

The Group has also reviewed its environmental policies and performance
from time to time to minimise the environmental impact of its business
operations. During the Year, the Company was not aware of any incidents
of significant non-compliance with relevant environmental policies, laws
and regulations. Details regarding the Group’s environmental policies
and performance are set out in the section “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 38 to 53 of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’ s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 100% of the Group’s revenue and approximately 45.6% of
the Group’s revenue was attributable to the largest customer.

For the Year, the Group had two major suppliers due to the nature of
the principal activities of the Group. The largest supplier accounted for
approximately 80.0% of the Group’s cost of sales.

Our major customers include LPTV programmers, electronic
manufacturer and satellite communication company. The years of
business relationship with the Group over 10 years and details of the
trade receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

To reduce related risks, the Group generally continuously monitors
the level of exposure to individual customers to ensure that follow-up
actions and/or corrective actions are taken promptly or to recover overdue
balances and if the receivables have not been paid or other breaches
of contract occur, the Group may deduct part of the credit amount. In
addition, the Group will evaluate potential customer’s credit quality
before determining the credit limit of the new contract.

During the Year, the Group had not experienced any major disruption of
business due to material delay or default of payment by our customers
due to their financial difficulties. We did not have any material dispute
with our customers.

None of the Directors or their respective close associates or any of the
Shareholders (who owns more than 5% of the Company’s number of
the issued shares) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers during the Year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 4 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS
Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets of the Group are set out in notes 14 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of equity-linked agreements entered during the Year or subsisting
at the end of the Year are set out below:

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 29 May 2018, the Company issued US dollar denominated convertible
notes with a principal amount of US$96,000,000 (“2025 CN”) to Chi
Capital Holdings Ltd. (“CCH”) as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of 20% equity interest in Silkwave Holdings Limited. The
maturity date of the 2025 CN is 28 May 2025 (2025 CN Maturity Date”)
which is 7 years from the date of issue of the 2025 CN. The 2025 CN
are non-interest bearing and mature on 2025 CN Maturity Date at the
principal amount. The 2025 CN are convertible into shares at any time
after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business days prior to the
2025 CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of HK$7 each share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable upon
conversion is 1,862,400,000 shares, which represents 41.5% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and outstanding as of
the issue date of the 2025 CN on a fully diluted basis.

The issue of the 2025 CN was split between a liability component
and an equity component in its initial recognition as follows: (i)
Liability component was initially measured at fair value amounted to
approximately US$44,137,000 which represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the
market interest rate applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is
subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest
rate of 11.41% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the liability
component, amounted to approximately US$51,863,000 was presented
in equity as convertible notes reserve. Pursuant to terms and conditions
of the 2025 CN, the conversion price and the number of conversion
shares to be issued upon the exercise of conversion rights attached to
the outstanding 2025 CN were adjusted to HK$8 and 84,390,000 shares
respectively upon the completion of the share consolidation on 12
November 2019. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2025 CN,
the conversion price of and the number of conversion Shares to be issued
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the outstanding 2025
CN were adjusted to HK$8.088 and 83,471,810 Shares respectively with
retrospective effect from 18 February 2020, being the next day following
the record date of the Rights Issue.
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The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of 2025 CN
being converted shall be calculated by using the fixed exchange rate of
HK$7.76 per US$1.00.

On 29 June 2021, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
(the “2028 CN Subscription Agreement”) to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible notes in principal amount of
US$65,000,000 (the “2028 CN”) and the said amounts shall be satisfied
by fully setting off against all of the 2025 CN. The 2028 CN shall mature
on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue thereof.

The conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share represents: (i) a premium
of approximately 22.81% to the closing price of HK$0.285 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 29 June 2021, being the date of
the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; (ii) a premium of approximately
20.69% to the average closing price of HK$0.290 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five trading days up to and including
the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; and (iii) a premium
of approximately 19.25% to the average closing price of HK$0.294 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last ten trading days up
to and including the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement. Based
on the conversion price of HK$0.35 per conversion Share, a maximum
number of 1,444,857,142 conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the 2028 CN in full.

Pursuant to terms and conditions of the 2028 CN, the conversion price
and the number of conversion shares to be issued upon the exercise of
conversion rights attached to the outstanding 2028 CN were adjusted to
HKS$7 and 13,337,142 shares respectively upon the completion of the
share consolidation on 12 October 2024.

The transaction shall benefit the Company by greatly enhancing the
probability for the CN holder to convert the liability into share equity,
and it will strengthen the Company’s balance sheet and allow the
Company to engage in strategic and capital markets opportunities to
significantly grow and expand its businesses while revamping as a
significant operating concern.

CCH is a substantial Shareholder, which is in turn wholly-owned by
Mr. WONG Chau Chi, the chief executive of the Group, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the subscription of the 2028 CN
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The Deed of Amendment was approved by the Shareholders other than
CCH and the connected persons of the Company and their respective
associates at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
19 August 2021 and the issue of 2028 CN was approved by the Stock
Exchange subsequently.
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As at 31 December 2024, the principal amount of the outstanding 2028
CN amounted to US$12,000,000. Assuming that there is no change in
the number of issued Shares since 31 December 2024 and the conversion
rights attached to the outstanding 2028 CN are exercised in full, the
number of issued Shares will be increased by 13,337,142, representing
approximately 14.88% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024
(i.e. 89,619,494 Shares) and approximately 12.95% of the issued Shares
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares (i.e.
102,956,636 Shares).

Set out below is the dilution effect on equity interest of the substantial
Shareholders upon the fully conversion of the outstanding 2028 CN by
CCH.

A EOPAE+ T H =+ —H o BEATAE SN
2028 1 46 I 5245 1 4% 42 % 45 12,000,000 3% JC ©
Wk H —Z E+F - H=+—HEE#T
Ji 4y e B I dme AR B - HL BB AT AR AM2028 T e
SR T A S8R AR R AT O B R AT IR
BCH 1 48 013,337, 14288 > A Y & 0 4R
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2024

Upon full conversion of
Convertible Notes
as at 31 December 2024
REZZWEF A=+ —H

FERR BoFONESA=Z+—H I 3 T 90 T S R
Approximately Approximately
Number % of Number % of
of Shares issued Shares of Shares issued Shares
G E AT RO i 2 AT B
Jr #H B4 47 L J& A #4 H R4 4 L
CCH
CCH 44,750,486 49.93 58,087,628 64.82
Chi Capital Securities Limited (“CCS”)
Chi Capital Securities Limited ([ CCS]J) 2,550,191 2.85 2,550,191 2.48

CCS is wholly-owned by CCH, and CCH is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong
Chau Chi. Hence, Mr. Wong Chau Chi is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by CCH and CCS. Therefore, the outstanding 2028 CN could
be converted fully as it would not result in the number of Shares which
are in the hands of the public falling below 25% of the issued Shares.

As calculated based on loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately US$8.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
basic and diluted loss per share of the Company amounted to US10.0
cents.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme™) which was duly passed at the general meeting of the Company
held on 30 May 2023. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the circular of the Company dated 28 April 2023.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. All directors, executives, suppliers of
goods or services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group, shareholders
of any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the Group and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
after the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 9 years.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 30
May 2023 (the “General Scheme Limit”). The Company may renew the
General Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval provided that each
such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue
as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.
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Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-months period shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the date
of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors
to each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the grant of options is made but shall not end later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option, subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the directors
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding
of an option before it can be exercised.

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 8,961,949, representing approximately 10% of the issued
Shares as at the date of the annual report.

The Group did not recognise share-based payments expense in profit or
loss related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The number of options available for grant under the share option scheme
of the Company was 103,998,988 and 8,961,949 as at 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 respectively. The number of shares that may be
issued in respect of options granted under the share option scheme of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately 10%.
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Save as disclosed herein, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed
and cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not have in aggregate reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders as at 31 December 2024. Under the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
amounted to approximately US$80.1 million as at 31 December 2024 is
available for distributions to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman)
Ms. WOO Lan Ying (Vice-Chairperson) (appointed on 14 May 2024)

Mr. WANG Shuhang (appointed on 18 March 2024
and resigned on 28 June 2024)

Mr. FAN Kaiye (appointed on 18 March 2024 and
resigned on 8 May 2024)

Mr. HAN Xu (appointed on 18 March 2024 and
resigned on 8 May 2024)

Mr. LUI Chun Pong
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) (resigned on 18 March 2024)

Mr. YANG Yi (resigned on 28 June 2024)
Ms. HO Wing Yan (appointed on 18 March 2024 and
resigned on 28 June 2024)

Dr. LI Jun
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing
Mr. TAM Hon Wah

In accordance with Article 108(A) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting (“AGM”) one third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. LUI Chun Pong and Mr. TAM Hon Wah will retire from the office
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

A circular containing an explanatory statement on the Company

repurchasing its shares, the biographical details of the director candidates
and the notice of AGM will be sent to shareholders of the Company.

62 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2024

#H

AR R EEARE TR > AN A E
b

AR A ()

AT S L () (A A

FH AP HHEZE(T)

TR (R T AE = H A H AT
SR R T PYAEN H AU H BEE)
mﬂ%%imﬁgggﬂﬁ

= H AN H EZS T =2 A
FLH N H BEHE)
EHJHH%:J:E$:H+AH§§E
R ZE g AE R A CH BEE)

B4R IR e A4

Bt (7 L) (YA

=H A H BEF)

MRt (i S g AaEAN A A H BET)
A Bk R 2 1 (ot ZFE g AE

= H A/ H EZAFL I AE
ANH A /UHBHT)

ZE TR R
Ji A e
AL e

WA A5 108(AV I » =70 2 —E RN
Jizi FSe R 2 AR O g b ([ BCRE 4R R & ) o S oy
B HEBEE AFHARDEEEE K F
Bt > IR SEAE I R B R SR AR A - TS
A NI R A AR o ) S RO 4 K g B
AL -

AT B T AR 2 ) S (B A3 4 R W R R
% 388 VB JRE w17 S s R 2 4 R 7 1 ) 28 1K)
A T AN F R -



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:
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Number of Ordinary Shares
¥l i B H

Interests in

Beneficial a controlled

Names of Directors owner corporation

Z M

FHEL B A A ¥ B 2

Mr. WONG Chan Chi (“Mr. Wong”) - 47,300,677

R e (T4 ) (Notes 3 and 4)

(Pt 353 5e4)

Mr. LUI Chun Pong 48,600 -
= IR e

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing 65,000 -
5S4

Mr. TAM Hon Wah 25,000 -

S

Interests in

underlying
Shares
T A A T
1 HE 43
Approximate
percentage
Share of the issued
options Total Shares
15 T 8AT R AR
il B¢ e At WA A 43 Lk
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(B &ED) (B 5E2)
- 47,300,677 52.78%
- 48,600 0.05%
- 65,000 0.07%
- 25,000 0.03%
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Notes:

These share options represent the awarded underlying Shares granted
to the Directors under the share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) which was adopted on 30 May 2023. Details
of the Share Option Scheme have been disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 89,619,494 Shares).

Of these 47,300,677 Shares, 44,750,486 Shares are held by the CCH.
CCH is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong.

Of these 47,300,677 Shares, 2,550,191 Shares are held by CCS,
which is wholly owned by CCH. Accordingly, Mr. Wong is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by CCS.

245 B LR A 6 7 — = =
40 51 = F R 00 A M T
W e AT 8 1) % T 5 0 AR B 9 D
0y = 47 B HE 30 0 T A HE
| 7

AR R AR
H=1— B0 e 347 Oy 4 8 (R
89,619,404 B B 173) 51 A3t o

7% 447,300,677 I Oy > CCHER A
44,750,486/ o CCHM ¥ %c 4 4 &
7@ °

W 5%47,300,677 B B > CCHA: &
A HICCSH A2,550,191 8% - A 1k > &
JE A AR B R CCS TR A M I 0y o A
HEZS o

Principal
amount of the

Number of the
total underlying

Approximate
percentage of

Name of the holder of the convertible notes convertible notes Shares  the issued Shares
i E iR 15 BT By
W EREEE A LA AR HH B B oy A 8 WA E 4L
(Note)
(BF&E)
CCH (Note 2) US$12,000,000 13,337,142 14.88%
CCH (Kt 5E2) 12,000,000 7t
Notes: it 53
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of 1. BEAEE T RO &R AR
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 89,619,494 Shares). H=Z1—HWC 817 048 8 (0
89,619,494/ JIk fiy) FHAAAS -
2% These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September 2. ARNA Y ZFE . —4FJLH = H [MCCH

2021 to CCH to fully set off against the amounts due by the Company
to CCH under the previous convertible notes held by CCH. These
convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free and convertible into the
Shares at the conversion price of HK$7.0 per Share. As CCH is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong is deemed to
be interested in these convertible notes held by CCH.
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All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives of
the Company or their associates had any interests or short positions,
whether beneficial or non-beneficial, in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2024 as required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
DEBENTURES

OR

Except as disclosed above and disclosed in notes 23 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.
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R & SCRT 8k FAh i & A+ A
=t—H > MEALFESE - ERTHAAR
25 1A T B8 N AT Ay A 23 ) S8CHAT oy 4 B 35
M (O 98 WL A5 I3 B B e B 58 X VD) B BBE
R R BB % A3 2 v A A o) B i T i
it BRI ZE RO Bk S AN 2% R AR 4 2 K )
M1 55 35216 A7 2 1) %65 i Y SRR 9 A 8 < JU) R
A T B AT o

Jie My o A O ) R

W Ll B i K S5 A A 5 R B 23 125 2
i TR A A8 A AT A B R > AN A e AT
AT BT 2> ) 46 SR A 5 A1 9 35 DA e B AR 2 )
AT AT e Ath 3 A B %) A 4 B 5 1 O =l
W 35 AT AT e PR Hodh — 5 -

EHRRRZ Y - KRG HHELR
B BB R 3R M SR8 R A MERE K A
A oy A% 2 ) BCHAT ] I A R AR B RT AT

17 [ R e M R A R AR o LR
AN A JBE & BOA AR AT ] IR (] A7 4

20244E IR R BRI A F 65



Directors’ Report
EERWEE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

SR R B At N R iy B+ B i A
R HE B e IR A

RoToWAE+FA=+—H > LN AL O
IR BAN A I = AT BN B) 0 5H B
A o R A RO 1 R 2 B ) R I ) B XV B 4
2 J 353 HB A SC Il AR B R sZHFEA AR A
A AR R KO & 0 2R 33600 A7 L 1Y B RE
1 RE 25 SR A

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder  Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held issued Shares
e EAT IR G
Ji& 3 44 1 B4 HE 2t B Jr %5 By B H BE# H 4 L
(Note 1)
(BE&ED)
CCH Beneficial owner 58,087,628 (Note 2) 64.82%
CCH HalEfm A (f5E2)
Interests in a controlled corporation 2,550,191 (Note 3) 2.85%
Z L A RE 2 (B 5E3)
CCS Beneficial owner 2,550,191 (Note 3) 2.85%
CCS HaEa A (Bt &E3)
Notes: Bk
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of

issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 89,619,494 Shares).
2. These Shares are hold by CCH. CCH is solely and beneficially owned
by Mr. Wong.

3. These Shares are held by CCS. CCS is wholly-owned by CCH.
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Name of the holder of Principal amount of
the convertible notes  the convertible notes

Approximate
percentage of the
issued Shares

Number of the total
underlying Shares

15 C B AT IR
LE Y3 SR DN EAE 33 ¥ ot TR It A7 48 B E 2 b
(Note 1)
(FffEE1)
CCH (Note 2) US$12,000,000 13,337,142 14.88%
CCH (Fff7£2) 12,000,000 7t
Notes: B 51
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of

issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 89,619,494 shares).

2. These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September
2021 to CCH to fully set off against the amounts due by the Company
to CCH under the previous convertible notes held by CCH. These
convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free and convertible into the
Shares at the conversion price of HK$7 per Share. As CCH is wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong is deemed to be
interested in these convertible notes held by CCH.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person, other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the Year, there was not any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which required
the compliance with the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details
of material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either exempt
from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, or did not fall
under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules.

1. ZHEESWER F W E+
H=4—Hr e 47 Oy 4 8 (Rp
89,619,404 B B 17) w3 A5 o

2. ANFR ZFEZ—4FJLH = H mCCH
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HRPECCHER A 19 5 /i nT 46 I 52 9% E A
TCCHZ FKIH - 7% % ] it 5248 1 9
T GRS R nT e A T T Y e A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Except as disclosed, during the Year, none of the Directors had any
interests in a competing business to the Group which was required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and motivate
talented individuals to contribute to the success of its business. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated and
reviewed by management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company currently has a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to
directors, executives and any other eligible persons, details of which are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong Kong employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme, which contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the
“Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the “Defined
Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal government,
which these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage,
which was pre-determined by the local municipal government, of the
sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to the Central Pension
Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the Defined Contribution
Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest fully
and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for each of the
two years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024, there was no
forfeiture of contributions under the Defined Contribution Schemes; and
(i1) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce
its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes as
at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024.

For each of the two years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2024, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors shall be indemnified against all losses and liabilities
which they may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged the appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any holders of securities of the Company
who are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their holding
of such securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the best knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors consider that the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

AUDITOR

Linksfield CPA Limited have been the auditor of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will
be proposed to the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
Linksfield CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

WONG Chau Chi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZE MRS S

LINKSFIELD CPA LIMITED

SEERE I EHAARA A
LI “ Ks F I E L n Room 2001-02, 20/F., Podium Plaza, 5 Hanoi Road,

CPA LIMITED Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
A:—' BB EN A B5E E B X+ /02012001-02 %
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SILKWAVE INC Borb % BOvR A PR A TR R
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (F B 2 B Al Mk o7 2 F R4 ] )
OPINION =

The consolidated financial statements of Silkwave Inc (the “Company”) SE80F172E i # PG EIE AR A A ([E A
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 172, which  wJ) K& HFtE A7) (T &4 H ) 1454 BB )

comprise: FALLE
. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December o RERAEL A = — HEEE T
2024; Bk DL

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive o BEH IR &S H S KOH A 2T
income for the year then ended; g e

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then o BEZHIFEENGEAME SR
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; e BEZHILEFEMNGEHERER &
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include o SEE MBS M BN MR > A4S E RSB

a summary of material accounting policy information and other WG R e HoAth s B G R A 2 o
explanatory information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit are:
- impairment assessment of intangibles assets held by the Group

- share of results of an associate

IBH B¢ 2 % 95 IR

R AR AT 19 253 W - B o o A = T M
B B TR T B R v e B A S OH
AN 75 2 A B AR T B R SRt Y R
SRR B B % S S IH TS e 5F 3 H B
BRER -

FRAM7E 7 A% rF il 09 B S A A R E A

- BAEBEFA Y E E B RS
- REARIE L A B SRR

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
3F) 4 4% 2 0H FAM i 5t O B B BH G A B R

Impairment assessment of intangible assets held by the Group

B 15 A0 TG B E A AT A

Refer to note 4 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements In the evaluation of management’s impairment

S &R A I i R W s R4 B B 5E 15

assessments over the intangible assets balance, we

have performed the following:

As disclosed in note 15, the Group has intangible assets which
represents the spectrum usage rights held by the Group with an
indefinite useful life as at 31 December 2024.

AN BN FE ISP BER 0 AR T F TIE T = — A
IR ol Y 4 300 F) A0 £ P B SR O

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the Group is
required to, at least annually, test intangible asset with indefinite life
for impairment; and for other intangible assets, the Group is required
to test for impairment when there are impairment indicators.
RIEE B EGFHENE3IE [ EERE]  BEMAZDEFLE
BIR 8 1 4 0 1) 0 T2 S A A7 9 (e 0 sl 5 T S G At TR B
F o BRI BAE I S AT WE R
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P R A LT S Y A B BT AR 2 W (E BT A
B AN CAEAT LT TAF -

Evaluated the composition of the Group’s
future cash flow forecasts in developing
the value in use (“VIU”) calculations of all
the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), and
the process by which they were drawn up,
including testing the underlying calculations
and comparing the forecasts to the latest
budgets approved by the management;

FEAE AR B B A AL ([Bl&
A LA ) AT R A (T B (E ) %
Z AR AT <5 vt A TE P 2 AR R 40 B H AR A
AR AL AE B RUAR B R OR ot T A
T I e e 2 B R T RAE Y E R

Understood the impairment triggering
events and management’s business plan
through discussions with management and
corroborated management’s assessment with
supporting evidence;
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FEAl > BB BB E 2 R E R
i 5 5t ) 5



Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

B i o 8 0H

Impairment assessment of intangible assets held by the Group

5L 15 A 19 JETE B Do AE A

Management performs the impairment assessments with support
from an external valuer. The recoverable amount of the underlying
CGUs is supported by value-in-use calculations which are based on
future discounted cash flows. These assessments involved significant
management judgments and estimates in the determination of
valuation model and the application of assumptions in the model,
including forecasted revenue growth rate, profit margin, terminal
growth rate, and discount rate used in the projection period.
TESNE A (B B 2 h B > A B R AT (B BT il o A B B < i A R
S B T W [ < R R RO A SR A S B B < U T w o T R (ELAS
e WA Rl P R A TR R A (AR Y B R R A T e BT T 1
R e 2 B K B B At > B33 B T ] B ) 2 BB A = 6
F 3 B MR A S B A o

As a result of the impairment assessment, the Group recognised
impairment for the spectrum usage rights of US$4,817,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024. After the impairment losses
recognised during the year, the Group had intangible assets of
US$18,990,000.

B WEREAG > SEMBEREE T WE+ A =+—HIk
A B2 R 1) E (B 454,817,000 TT o i A 4F L e 58 (B s 15
&> BAEMHEA 18,990,000 JC L & 7 -

We focused on this area because the size of impairment losses
recognised during the year was significant and the management’s
impairment assessments involved material judgments and estimates.
T HE R LG > G R AR B R < BE B RSB E R >
A LT 0 9 A P S R B B Al R

B 2B EN RS S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAM B4 7 5 oy i T I o A A T O

. Assessed the key assumptions including the
revenue growth rate and profit margin in
the forecast with reference to management’s
business plans and past results of operation of
the CGUs;
GG 2 EW B KRB S EERNZ
AR SR WA E R R B
5 T B 2 A3 R 4 T AR

. Assessed the discount rates used in the
forecast by comparing to relevant external
sources of market data with the assistance of
our internal valuation specialists;

7 N RN (B K 2 1 Bl EL R BH AN AR
35 R AR > 505 BT 2 R B

. Assessed the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by the managements.

P A B R 2 AT 2 S A A (R R A A
EA% BB KK B o

We found the management’s judgments and
estimates applied on the impairment assessments in
respect of the intangible assets were supported by
available evidence.

FoAM TR 25 % PG il TR 7 T AR (A 0
VLR E S SRS
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Key audit matter

B i o 8 0H

Share of results of an associate
HE 15 T 2 4 W 1 K A

Refer to note 4 and note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

2 Bl A5 G B W AR W 4 S Mt 17

As disclosed in note 17, the Group holds 20% equity interests in
an associate, Silkwave Holdings Limited (“Silkwave”). The 20%
equity interests in Silkwave is accounted for under the equity
method. Silkwave has loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
of US$2,705,000. The Group’s share of loss from Silkwave was
US$541,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group’s
interests in Silkwave was US$10,133,000 as at 31 December 2024.
AN B EE TR B R > B4R 1B R B 4 Wl Silkwave Holdings
Limited ([ Silkwave ) 20%# % © 14 Silkwave ) 20%H 4 4% # 45 75 A
I o Silkwave A 82 —F WHFE+ A =+—HILFENEERES
2,705,000%7C » HAEBMBE T UE+F A =+ — HIRFEE
J& Silkwave f) HE A5 5 15 £5541,00036 7T > T 35 4 [k —F "0 4E
+ = H =1 — B fESilkwave i 1 45 £510,133,0003 I

Silkwave, through its wholly owned subsidiary, holds the satellite
intangible asset, including right to occupy the orbit slot and spectrum.
The management of Silkwave is required to, at least annually, test
intangible assets with indefinite life for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

SilkwaveiZ i H 4> B f g 2~ 7] 554 TP % > B HUE L B
Be B0 TR o AR v wh YE S S5 3658 [ 2 Wk ] > Silkwave
14 78 2L 2 22 D A S RO ) 4 S0 09 S TR A AT BB AL -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAM B4 7 5 oy i T I o A A T O

In the evaluation of Silkwave’s management’s
impairment assessments over the intangible assets,
we have performed the following:

A FEESilkwave ' g ¥ MY & 7 i 7E 2 Wl (H 51
b IRE - FAM C AT LA TAE -

. Evaluated the composition of Silkwave’s
future cash flow forecasts in developing the
VIU calculations of the CGU, and the process
by which they were drawn up, including
testing the underlying calculations and
comparing the forecasts to the latest budgets
approved by Silkwave’s management;

FPE Silkwave it Bl < A A B AT (0 B (0
52 RA B i B T 2 AR O B H
i 2 AR LA T RUAR B w55 D ot 7 ) B
Silkwave s g It i 2 F B TH A 1 P

. Understood the impairment triggering events
and business plan through discussions with
Silkwave’s management and the Company’s
management. We also corroborated Silkwave’s
management’s assessment with supporting
evidence;
7t SSilkwave i BLJE & 84 F A BLE
ol g DL T AR B 2 S R S R
B 5 5l D SRR R R B Silkwave & B E 2
CALE

. Assessed the key assumptions including the
revenue growth rate and profit margin in
the forecast with reference to Silkwave’s
management’s business plans and past results
of operation of the CGU;

275 Silkwavet B g 2 3605 5t B % Bl 4 i A
B 2@ AR A AP A AR Y E R AR
A% o AL T 2 A B 1R R A

. Assessed the discount rates used in the
forecast by comparing to relevant external
sources of market data with the assistance of
our internal valuation specialists;

7 N AR (B K 2 1 B ELSORE BH A1 AR
T35 BB AR > RPAL T BT 2 B B
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Key audit matter

B i o 8 0H

Share of results of an associate

HE 15 T 2 4 W 1 K A

The management of Silkwave performs the impairment assessments
with support from an external valuer. The recoverable amount of the
underlying CGU is supported by value-in-use calculations which are
based on future discounted cash flows. These assessments involved
significant management judgments and estimates in the determination
of valuation model and the application of assumptions in the model,
including forecasted revenue growth rate, profit margin, terminal
growth rate, and discount rate used in the projection period.

TE SN EAR (B RG22 00 B T > Silkwave) 8 S Jg 4 17 (B 3745 o A0 BH
T <5 7 A BEASE 10 T o [ <5 A PR K A R A N B B < U T TR
o P (LAt o % A5 WA U B B 7B A A (A AR % A 7
H T R S B R < K M B A Rt o B R TR ] 2 T
WA SRR~ AR R R AR LM BLR o

We focused on this area because of its significance of the share of
results of an associate to the consolidated financial statements and
because the impairment assessments involved material judgments and
estimates.

FEAMY B R LGS o T e R A B N R SE A A S BB R
1M 5 & K HLBUE AT Al 9 % R A B R A L

B 2B EN RS S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAM B4 7 5 oy i T I o A A T O

. Assessed the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management.

R Al A B 2 AT 2 8 S A A (R R A A
B B RE B -

We found Silkwave’s management’s judgments and
estimates applied on the impairment assessments in
respect of the intangible assets were supported by
available evidence.

A 58 5 Silkwave L wft 6T & 72 BT AF (5T
il 9 1 By A w2 A R S o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

B 2B EN RS S

B BB T AR W B R R AT

AT BB 2 AR A B R A BRSO
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Tsz Yeung.

Linksfield CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Tsz Yeung

Practising Certificate Number: PO8054

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

Y= AR

%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR

H it 2 W e

3R

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Market development and promotion
expenses

Finance costs

Other expenses

Share of results of an associate

Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets

Impairment loss recognised under
expected credit loss model

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Item that may be subsequently reclassified

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Share of exchange differences of an

associate

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Loss for the year

A
B A

EBH

FoAb A
1T BB 5
I 355 bR 3% Je At B B 52

S5 A

HoA B 32

P T 7 ) B SE AR
TV A O e R0 0k (B s 1

AT & e R AR T e RR

{19 9k {EL s 12

B B2 il 1 1R
P 45 B4 B 52

A M i R

oAb 2 (s 4R) A
H] 1% 7] GE 50 M E 1R 4t &
HH
{0 B g 1 S I FE AR Y
HE 58, 22

OB 5 2 D Y B 50 25 B

HAtt 2T E > BRBUR

A1 4 i i 4R B8

VLT 4% JEORE A 4F 9 1 4R
/AR XN
I FE Jse i i

A )i 1R

NOTES
Bf o

17

15

17

2023
—E=

US$’000

TETT

6,394 7,338
(3,490) (4,814)
2,904 2,524
1 4
(933) (3,087)
(54) (498)
(731) (862)
(358) (92)
(541) (49,599)
(4,817) (20,224)
(4,257) (2,614)
(8,786) (74,448)
(673) (520)
(9,459) (74,968)
12) 2
11 (75)
(€)) (73)
(9,460) (75,041)
(8,923) (66,813)
(536) (8,155)
(9,459) (74,968)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

=
N}

a N\ 7/

Sz M E 2 E W s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WE T PES ZH = H IR

Total comprehensive loss VLR 4% JE R 4 42 i s 1R AR -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company A EHEA N
Non-controlling interest I ¥ R HE 45

Total comprehensive loss for the year  4F [N 4 i i 18 44

Loss per share (5304 Fi]
Basic A
Diluted fif 8

2023
—Ez =

NOTES US$’000

Fht 5 TE7T
(8,924) (66,886)
(536) (8,155)
(9,460) (75,041)

(Restated)

(&)

US$ US$

XL ES

13

(0.10) (0.80)
(0.10) (0.80)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with accompanying
notes.

Tk B B T i A B
B — B 1 o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=IAN 7f /8 Hj( N
,Zn/ S=Nbiva /R%
As at 31 December 2024
AZFEWETH=+—H

2023
S
NOTES US$’000
i T %t
Non-current assets I B B
Property, plant and equipment L ENN 14 - -
Intangible assets WL E = 15 18,990 23,807
Interests in an associate B S ] RE 22 17 10,133 10,663
Right-of-use assets fifi FA W 16 18 293
Financial asset at fair value through DL T8 2 8 51 ACE B 45
profit or loss 14 45 Rl 18 - -
29,141 34,763
Current assets W B &
Trade and other receivables &y Je HoAth B e 2K TE 19 1,584 3,786
Amount due from a related company RE Wiz B8 W N ) ETE 22 4,779 5,509
Amount due from an associate JRE WS Vg 5 ) IR 22 - -
Bank balances and cash BRAT #5 o B4 20 889 727
7,252 10,022
Current liabilities B £
Trade and other payables B G B FoAth 1 AT 3 IH 21 1,539 1,564
Lease liabilities IER=S=E 16 23 302
Income tax payable JRE 32 BT 45 Foi 1,548 875
3,110 2,741
NET CURRENT ASSETS i B & R 4,142 7,281
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B R AAE TR B £ AR
LIABILITIES 33,283 42,044
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I i B £1
Convertible notes EE YIS 23 9,620 8,898
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 4 27
9,624 8,925
NET ASSETS & A 23,659 33,119
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irE IR R
As at 31 December 2024
AZECNEFZH=+—H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEA B ik

Share capital e A

Share premium and reserves B 53 Vi 168 % ft A

Equity attributable to the owners A FHEA NG RES
of the Company

Non-controlling interests IE ¥ B RE 25

TOTAL EQUITY HE 25 48 7%

2023

B
NOTES US$’000
Bf o TET
24 114 46,012
18,802 (18,172)
18,916 27,840
4,743 5,279
23,659 33,119

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 172 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and
are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR
#HH

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with accompanying notes.

SO IT2E MG M R O w i o it —
FOREZH = — B RET > I
MU ALNEES

DIRECTOR
HF

3t A B 5 I D 2 B L[] S R RS s — A

2
i ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPEF ] = HIRAEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LYTE SN A
Attributable
Share Convertible to non-
Share Share Merger Distributable option Capital notes  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest equity
R it

Bk R AORE  TRREGE ORREGE  WARE  TRGE EARE HHER At Rl RN
USSO00  USS000  USS'000  USSO00  USS000  USSO00  USS'000  USS'000  USS000  USSO00  USS000  USS'000
Tt FEE TR TR TR TE TR TR TR TR TR TEn

(Note (a)) ~ (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(Wit (Hko) (ko)

At 1 January 2023 REBZZE-A-R 39,597 71953 31,987 129,757 605 2,110 8,468 (1409 (199,488) 83,580 13434 97,014
Loss for the year KRR - - - - - - - - (66813) (66813 8155 (74.968)
Exchange differences arising on BERIERREER

translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - - - 2 - 2 - 2
Share of exchange difference of an associate  JE {44 7 [ 3t % 4 - - - - - - - (75) - (75) - (73)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRATERAE - - - - - - - (1) (66813 (66886) (8155 (75041
Exercise of share options ligd g 1,856 3750 - - (1,589) - - - - 4017 - 4017
Cancellation of share options ST - - - - (524) - - - 524 - - -
Conversion of convertible notes IR E 4559 4437 - - - - (3375 - - 5601 - 5,601
Recognition of equity settled share based AUERSTURG A

payments expense HROH L - - - - 1,508 - - - - 1,508 - 1,508
At31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Z=EF A=A

& ?S WE—~A—H 46,012 80,140 31,987 129,757 - 2,110 5,093 (1482 (265,777) 27840 5219 33,119

Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - (8,923) (8,923) (536) (9,459)
Exchange differences arising on GBI

translation of foreign operations B ER - - - - - - - (12) - (12) - (12)
Share of exchange difference of an associate & {5 /5 /4 7 I 5 238 - - - - - - - 11 - 11 - 1
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERAHEREE - - - - - - - (1) (8923) (8.924) (536) (9.460)
Capital reduction BeAH B (45,898) - - 45808 - - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2024 REFZWEFZA=+—H 114 80,140 31,987 175,655 - 2,110 5,093 (1,483)  (274,700) 18916 4743 23,659

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in | %l 45 & HE 25 55 Bh 2 0 384 [a] b6 B B8 55— F B9
conjunction with accompanying notes. e ©
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Notes:

(a)

(d)

(©

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share
capital of Global Technology International Limited acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation on 5 July 2005.

On 29 April 2009, the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each share from
HK$0.10 to HK$0.01. The capital reduction amount was transferred to
distributable reserve.

On 10 September 2012, every ten issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.10.

On 21 June 2016, every ten issued and unissued shares were consolidated
into one consolidated share from HK$0.10 to HK$1.

On 8 September 2016, the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each
share from HK$1 to HK$0.01. The credit balance of the capital reduction
amount after reducing the accumulated losses of the Company was
transferred to distributable reserve.

On 12 November 2019, every twenty issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.2 each.

On 23 December 2024, every twenty issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.20 to HK$4.00 each.
Immediately following the share consolidation, the issued share capital of
the Company was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each
share from HK$4.00 to HK$0.01. The credit balance arising from the capital
reduction was credited to the distributable reserve account.

Capital reserve represents (i) the capital contribution from a shareholder of
the Company through the shares granted by a shareholder to the employees
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2006 and 2008; and (ii)
deemed capital contribution from a shareholder regarding the non-interest
bearing advances.

BB -

(a)

(d)

©

A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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AR SREM=E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
WE T g A S H IR

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Share-based payment expenses
Share of results of an associate
Impairment loss recognised on intangible
assets
Impairment loss recognised under
expected credit loss model

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid on lease liabilities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities
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R i il s 12
HULLR 45 TH

Jt B A

LE RN N & R
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DA 053 5 25 B 1) A 38K B 52
A T 5 ) Y SE A
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il R B BB (L S 4R

w5 B Y
RERemRE
BEE S
B oy B FLAb E WK IR
B 5y B H A A R A

REREB I, () Bl
L B A B B S
E 4 5 B8) (1) 2 28

REWHHR )
Bl&wH

NOTES
Bf o

14
16
25
17

15

2023
S
US$’000
T %t
(8,786) (74,448)
731 862
= 27
276 285
= 1,508
541 49,599
4,817 20,224
4,257 2,614
1,836 671
2,351 (1,566)
(25) (1,653)
4,162 (2,548)
9 27
(12) -
4,141 (2,575)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Cash flows from investing activities

Advances to an associate

Advances to a related company

Net cash outflows from disposal of
subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of share options
Lease payment

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year
Represented by bank balances and cash
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2023
—E =

NOTES US$°000

Ff 5 FExT

(2,586) (922)

(1,086) (1,226)

@) -

(3,676) (2,148)

24 = 4,017

30 (303) (285)

(303) 3,732

162 (991)

727 1,718

20 889 727

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Silkwave Inc was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s registered
office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located Room 1202, 12/F, Guangdong
Finance Building, 88 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Chi Capital
Holdings Ltd (“Chi Capital”), being a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Wong Chau Chi who is the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in the development and promotion
of convergent mobile multimedia broadcasting (“CMMB”)-
based multimedia and interactive services via proprietary
terrestrial infrastructure. The Group is operating a terrestrial UHF
wireless television (“TV”) network providing digital media and
entertainment services to certain key markets in the United States of
America (“US”).

The Group is also engaged in trading which relates to the
procurement and distribution of printed circuit board (“PCB”)
materials, and providing hardware and software solution related to
artificial intelligence (“Al”) and Internet-of-Things.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
United States dollars (“US$°0007), unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group reported a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
US$8.9 million. The directors of the Company (“Directors™)
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections which
cover a period of at least twelve months from 31 December
2024. Based on the Group’s cash flows expected to be
generated from operations and investing cash inflows from
new subscriptions of share (Note 32), the Directors consider
that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financial
resources to enable it to operate and fulfill its liabilities
and commitments as and when they fall due within the
twelve months from 31 December 2024. The Group has also
obtained a letter of support from Chi Capital which agreed to
continuously provide financial support to enable the Group
to meet its liabilities and commitments as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared these consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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(a)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Amendments to standards and interpretation adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to
standards and interpretation for its annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024:

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (Amendments)
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(Amendments)
HKEFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(Amendments)
Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements —
Interpretation 5 Classification by the Borrower of a
(Revised) Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause
Supplier Finance Arrangements
(Amendments)

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The amendments to standards and interpretation
listed above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to Standards and

interpretation in issue but not yet effective

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for the current reporting period and have not

been early adopted by the Group:

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

HKERS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7

HKEFRS 18
HKEFRS 19

Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2026.

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.

Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments)'

Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments (Amendment)?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards’

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause
(Amendments)’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (Amendments)*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to Standards and
interpretation in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

In July 2024, HKICPA issued HKFRS 18 which is
effective for the Group’s annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. HKFRS 18 introduces significant
changes to the presentation of financial statements, with
a focus on information about financial performance
present in the statement of profit or loss, which will
affect how the Group present and disclose financial
performance in the consolidated financial statements.
The key changes introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to
(i) the structure of the statement of profit or loss,
(ii) required disclosures for management-defined
performance measures (which are referred to
alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and the disclosures of the consolidated
financial statements.

There are no other new standards, amendments and
interpretation that are not yet effective and that would
be expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. The Group will
adopt the above new standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretations when they become
effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of financial position respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment losses. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Executive
Directors that make strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0

(ii)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is US$, which is the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rates on the dates of
the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

= A

I Ay

B 15 R R B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024

WE=FpUE ] =+ IR

2 HEAREEBUORME &)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

T hE R 2 7 B

AR I HECT 25 T 2 I R
R FTHNIE H 250 A B
B T E AR BR B
B (TRt )) RatA
AL o AR RER S
Kot KA LA A
Z BRI -

& 5p R 45 b

SN A2 Ty ¥R A T H O 2
HE A< 40 5 % T RE B TR &5
B %5 o AR AS A A
HEE 4 40 55 DA R AH(E 2 B
R KRR E R 2 N HE N AR
B 1807 5 4 1R 4 M A 4
THT W 4 R e D o

ALE B A A
J1fE B W B2 5 & WO [A]
(0 4% I e 2 R KE 3 2 B
) 2 B A AR A
e BABS IR DL - #% LT U5 St
HR25EE:

- KWK R AT 2 5
B KA IR
LR B HA 22 T R
=

- 18t M HA 2 T I 5
FKZUA KBS > Fi 1
) [ S BT > M Sl
FLEEAR G H O H R R
R EMMRE AR
BRAN o ZEBLAE BT > U
A KB S35 5 H R
BRI 5 K

- PG Z BT A BE 2 R
& 18 FUAth A T i 2

W °

20244E IR R BRI A F 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= IVAN
AR B

B 15 iR R B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEFWEL =t —HILEE

2

96

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(iti) Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ®E Kk &zFBURBEE (4)
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

For the trading of PCB materials and other AI related
products, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains
control of the goods, i.e. upon fulfilment of performance
obligation stipulated in the contracts and goods are delivered
to the customers.

For the provision of CMMB service income and transmission
and broadcasting of television programs, revenue is
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs and is based on output
method, as the time elapses, because it reflects the pattern by
which the Group satisfies the performance obligation through
the rendering the services to the customer.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially
from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises and retail shops that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ®E Kk &zFBURBEE (4)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains
a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 H K& BEME #)
(Continued)
Retirement benefit costs Bk 5 A i A

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
including the state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

. including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

. excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);

. and including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to save).
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 H K&t BEME &#)
(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued) LBt 7 2 BE g £ 5% (7

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected
to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in advance
of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during
the period between service commencement period and grant
date. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium.

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ®E Kk &zFBURBEE (4)
(Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost, being the fair value at the
date of acquisition, less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each date of statement
of financial position. In assessing whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired, the Group considers
the following indications:

External sources of information

- there are observable indications that the asset’s value
has declined during the period significantly more than
would be expected as a result of the passage of time or
normal use.

- significant changes with an adverse effect have taken
place during the period, or will take place in the near
future, in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment in the market to which an asset is
dedicated.

- market interest rates or other market rates of return on
investments have increased during the period, and those
increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating an asset’s value in use and decrease the
asset’s recoverable amount materially.
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ®E Kk &zFBURBEE (4)
(Continued)

Internal sources of information

- evidence is available of obsolescence or physical
damage of an asset.

- significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity
have taken place during the period, or are expected to
take place in the near future, in the extent to which,
or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to
be used. These changes include the asset becoming
idle, plans to discontinue or restructure the operation
to which an asset belongs, plans to dispose of an asset
before the previously expected date, and reassessing the
useful life of an asset as finite rather than indefinite.

- evidence is available from internal reporting that
indicates that the economic performance of an asset is,
or will be, worse than expected.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and
50% of the voting rights of that entity.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in
the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investments equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of associate.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. When necessary, amounts reported by
associates have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be met
by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

2.16.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.16.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established. Changes in the fair value
of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as applicable

2.16.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses (the “ECL”) associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For
trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the trade receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ®E Kk &zFBURBEE (4)
(Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
and services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. Other receivables are recognised initially at fair
values and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The component parts of the convertible loan notes issued by
the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar nonconvertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. Where the conversion option remained unexercised
are lapsed, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion
option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to equity holders through the optimisation of the
debts-to-equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes convertible notes disclosed in note 23, net of cash and
cash equivalents disclosed in note 20 and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group relies mainly on the equity
financing from the owners of the Company.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associate with the
capital. Based on recommendation of Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debts and the repayment of existing debts.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BRI BEE PR A
2023
US$’000
TET
Financial assets S REE
Financial assets measured at USRS i AR 71 22 1 <2 (il B
amortised cost:
Trade receivables B Ly BE SR A 1,438 3,657
Other receivables and deposits T Ath JE A T K 1 4 146 129
Amount due from a related company JRRE ke R i 2 ) R 4,779 5,509
Amount due from an associate JRE WA B 7 A R R = -
Bank balances and cash ATE 8 R B4 889 727
Financial assets at FVTPL: LIS T 5 B G A )
18 7 119 2 il B -
Equity investment and call option HE £ B0 KRR W U HE = -
7,252 10,002
Financial liabilities A
Financial liabilities measured at E 3 ) N4 )
amortised cost: A
Trade payable B 5 REAT 3CH 498 797
Accruals w4 A 896 767
Convertible notes A B T 9,620 8,898
Lease liabilities EN =R 27 329
11,041 10,791
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank balances, trade and other payables,
amount due from a related company, amount due from an
associate, lease liabilities and convertible notes. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (represented by currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i)  Currency risk

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are
denominated in currencies other than United States
dollars, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
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liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: RMEWMT
Liabilities Assets
1R 93
2023 2023
e i S
US$’000 US$’000
R FET
Hong Kong dollar I (853) (1,057) 4,909 6,097
Renminbi (“RMB”) AR¥E (T ARED

- (6) 13 16

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For the exposure to the fluctuation in United States
dollar against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
was pegged to United States dollar, the management is
of opinion that such exposure is insignificant and no

sensitivity analysis is presented.

In the management’s opinion, the Group does not have
significant exposure to the fluctuation in United States
dollar against Renminbi, so no sensitivity analysis is

presented.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to
the bank balances due to the fluctuation of the market

interest rates for both years.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The Directors monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly sensitive to the
fluctuation of interest rate arising from the Group’s

bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is only related to
the impact of prevailing market interest rate change
on bank balances which are all short-term in nature.
Any variations in interest rates are not expected to
have a significant impact on the result of the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed for the

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 W E B B 4
Credit risk 17 B B

Credit risk refer to the risk that the counter-party fails to meet
its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount due from
a related company, amount due from an associate and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Impairment of financial assets

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL (“12-month ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
under the simplified approach in accordance with HKFRS 9.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables and collectively for other debtors
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
nature and size of debtors, historical credit loss experience,
ageing of overdue receivable, customer’s repayment
history and customer’s financial position and are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance under the general approach in accordance with
HKFRS 9, which is equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
mainly includes external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core

operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)

or internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor; and
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group). Irrespective of
the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

120

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as the total trade receivables were due from four
customers (2023: four). The management is of the view that
these four customers have good track records and considers
that the trade receivables from these four customers are
recoverable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management continuously
monitors the level of exposure to individual customers to
ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective actions are
taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover
overdue balances. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group has to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables. The Group has performed
historical analysis based on the background, credit quality
and reputation of the customers, historical settlement records,
past experience and adjusted for the forward-looking factors
that are specific to the customers. Management assessed that
the expected credit loss rate and loss allowances for trade
receivables on a collective basis to be US$36,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: US$181,000). The expected credit
loss rates are 2.49% (2023: 3.23%) for trade receivables aged
below past due 90 days and 4.98% (2023: 6.11%) for trade
receivables aged over past due 90 days.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) o 5 B 4 B (4
Credit risk (Continued) e B B (4E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 BE 3k (A
The movements of loss allowance for trade receivables are & G WE I K TE ks jﬁa 128 M 1) 5 Al 7))
shown as follows: RUNE
2023
US$°000
T£7T
Loss allowance at 1 January —H— H 1 181 57
(Reversal of)/provision for ECL TG Bl 4R (B m)) A (145) 124
Loss allowance at 31 December At H =+ — H i iR 36 181

Other receivables and deposits, amount due from a related

company and amount due from an associated company

For other receivables and deposits, amount due from a related
company and amount due from an associated company,
the Directors make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability based on historical settlement records, past
experience, financial position of the counterparties and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information.

For the other receivables and deposits, the Directors consider
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12-month ECL. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and deposits were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors consider that there
is significant increase in credit risk of amount due from
a related company since its initial recognition, the Group
provided impairment based on lifetime ECL (2023: the
Directors consider that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of amount due from a related company and the
Group provided impairment based on 12-month ECL). A loss
allowance of US$2,174,000 (2023: US$358,000) was made
accordingly.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits, amount due from a related
company and amount due from an associated company
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors consider that there
is significant increase in credit risk of amount due from an
associate since its initial recognition as the associate has
no longer obtained financial support from Chi Capital, as
a result, the Group provided impairment based on lifetime
ECL (2023: same). A loss allowance of US$4,884,000 (2023:
US$2,298,000) was made accordingly.

The movements of loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost are shown as follows:

S 2 J B 4 B (At

17 B B ()

HAGREN IR R e ~ BENL B 2
7] IR R 2 F sk (A

WoEFZME+FH =+—H"
WHERL RBEEAFAAHH
Chi Capital#15 B %5 3 4F » B IS HE
s\ A MG B R B B L)
TR DAAR S T » PR LS 45 AR
2 W TE NG SR EFHREE (—
T ZAE M) o AHIELE R
4 4#54,884,0005 70 (& — =A4F ¢
2,298,000 JC) °

T2 480 G A 9 B Y At 4 R
e R R S B SR T

REFZ=H—A—HK
Tl R4 4 45
TUME B

Loss allowance balance as at
1 January 2023
Provision for ECL

RE-FZ=F+ZA=1+—H
K =F_NFE—~A—HH

Loss allowance balance as at
31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 i 1R 8 A0 44
Provision for ECL (G B R

Loss allowance at
31 December 2024

R-F_NE+ZA=+—H
i) kg

Amount
due from Amount
a related due from an
company associate Total
JRE Wi A JRE M B
NGIE S5 A ] FOH st
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000
TET T#T T*T
128 38 166
230 2,260 2,490
358 2,298 2,656
1,816 2,586 4,402
2,174 4,884 7,058

The increase in the loss allowance is due to an increase in the
probability of default used to calculate the expected credit
loss for the outstanding balances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 W E B B 4

Credit risk (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks
and financial institutions as they have no default history in
the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is
assessed to be immaterial and no provision was made as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed

adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors are taking active steps to improve the liquidity
position of the Group and the Group should be able to
continue as a going concern.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BB A BE
Liquidity risk (Continued) Ui B & < M BE ()
As at 31 December 2024 RoZ-NE+—A=+—H
Trade payables 5 5 A5 R 498 - 498 498
Accruals g &l 896 - 896 896
Convertible notes T 4 iy - 12,000 12,000 9,620
Lease liabilities HEAK yr 4 28 b
1,418 12,004 13,422 11,041
Less than Total
1 year or undiscounted Carrying
on demand 1-5 years cash flows amount
ANES RAGB B &
BB K 12545 bR FR T {1
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
THEL T#x THL THL
As at 31 December 2023 WoEZZ=%+-H=+—H
Trade payables B 5 et 308 797 - 797 797
Accruals fest & 1 767 - 767 767
Convertible notes MR - 12,000 12,000 8,898
Lease liabilities HEARK 311 28 339 329
1,875 12,028 13,903 10,791
Note: The undiscounted cash flows of convertible notes are presented Bt GE - AT BB Y R A BB 4 U

TIMBEARFRAASFRE A 2
42 7L [ 7 R S Y T 40
SEPR A R T 2 5 o

based on the assumption that the Company will not early
redeem the outstanding convertible notes before the maturity
date.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

This note provides information about how the Group
determines the fair value of its financial asset.

(0

Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that is
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
Company has set up a valuation committee, which is
headed up by the financial controller of the Company,
to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair value, by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs
are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not
based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs).

There was no transfer of financial assets and liabilities
between the fair value hierarchy classifications during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that (i)
is measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets that
are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and

2023:

30 W b P A

(%)

R

A [B] 12 55 P HE DL AT
1 7t 2 19 & & E A F

TREVNALE G ZF I

e O & |

=t HEAFEAENE

=

Financial assets at FVTPL
UATHZEH A ERREN M ERE

— Unlisted investment

-k EE

- Call Option granted for a further 31%
equity interest in Silkwave
Holdings Limited

- Silkwave Holdings Limited#? i %51
319 IR E 1 TR B

Fair value at

31 December
2023
AECEE
TZAET—H
BATIE
RMB’000
NS

Fair value
hierarchy

S8

Level 3

B4R

Level 3

B4

Valuation technique(s) and input(s)

RN 6id

Adjusted net asset approach - in this
approach, the share of the net asset
value has been used to capture the
present value of the expected future
economic benefit.

MREmE RS-
B i 2 G (P AR R A
MG BiE -

Binomial Pricing Model - in this
approach, certain parameters
determined by management are input
into the binomial model to derive the
valuation of the call option.

THEAEEER R ERE
BERE T 288 A —HARE
DL SR IR 0 £ -

Significant unobservable
input(s)

BRI B A BR

Future economic benefit

ARAF G

Volatility, determined by
reference to historical
volatilities of companies
operating in the same
industry

Wl BEEFELABE
e E
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—AN ﬁ VK = 1T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 W E B B 4

0

Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that

(i) AHE A PB4

is measured at fair value on a recurring basis 72 1 & i & A T
(Continued) (#5)
Fair value hierarchy e e g
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B - oy e T
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
F%ET F*#5 TF*#5T R
As at 31 December 2024 i Sy L
+-A=+—H
Financial assets 4 il B
Financial asset at fair value DL\ 55 8 5+ A &
through profit or loss 8 45 09 4 - - - -
As at 31 December 2023 e et
+-H=+—H
Financial assets 4 il B A
Financial asset at fair value DL~V {B 8 8 5 A & 1)
through profit or loss 8 45 09 4 Rl - - - -

There is no movement for financial assets under Level
3 fair value measurements during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

PEE AR FE
==+ A=+ —HIEE
BE SN TERTREE T
) 4 il A A A ) o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

The Group tests whether the Group’s intangible assets with
indefinite life have suffered any impairment on an annual basis.
During the current year, the management has evaluated the
impairment of the Group’s intangible assets by way of value in
use (“VIU”) calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows
derived from financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group. The VIU calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to estimate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in key
assumptions underlying valuation model, a further impairment
loss may arise. Details of impairment charge, key assumptions and
impact of possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in note
15.

Satellite related intangible assets, including right to occupy the
orbital slot and spectrum, held by Silkwave Holdings Limited
(“Silkwave”) represents major assets of the associate. During
the current year, the management of the associate has evaluated
the impairment of the satellite intangible assets by way of VIU
calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows derived from
financial budgets approved by the management of the associate.
Details are disclosed in note 17.

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred tax assets relating to
certain temporary differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported to the Company’s executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of services provided. No operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision maker have been aggregated in arriving at the

reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under

HKFRS 8 operating segment are as follows:

i. CMMB business — Provision of transmission and broadcasting

of TV programs.

ii.  Trading business — Trading of PCB materials and other Al

related products.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

—AN ﬁ 7& = {T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

LN Pt gh

WA A Al AT (B E BB R )
5 DA e R B A 0 R B B
B PR C AR B R o ERE
L SR A T 8 A S T 1Y T 2 R 2 o B
SNf7 48 REE 5 P i 7] ) 468 4 43 46 o

EBI S > R EE TSRS RIS
RAR SR > AR B ) ] 2R A IR R 4
AT

i, CMMBZET — $ 13 18 iy K 4% il
HEH -

. B 5y SEH — BRI R B AR B R B H A
NG =S

Fi AT SR K S A 23 B A SR F A
B ERM AT

BEZZONEH A=+ HIEEE

Segment revenue

Segment (loss)/profit

Share of results of an associate

Other income

Impairment loss recognised under
expected credit loss model

Unallocated corporate expenses

Loss for the year

o A

o (REiR) /i Al

R T 7 ) R SE AR
HAb WA

B EEERET
i 58 1) 981 M5 4R

R L ) 4 3 BH 2

NG R

3,481 2,913 6,394

(2,549) 19 (2,530)
(541)

1

(4,402)
(1,987)

(9,459)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A
For the year ended 31 December 2024

B S A ) S AR

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

e A B 53 8B OB (A7)
BE-Z=SFF A= HIEE

Segment revenue 43 HR IR A

Segment loss 53 Wl e 15

Share of results of an associate JRE A g 7 2 R Y SE A

Other income FHo A e A

Impairment loss recognised under ISERUEERSY ik
expected credit loss model Tife 8 1) Tl (M 1H

Unallocated corporate expenses A4y T Y A 2E BH 3¢

Loss for the year AF A 5 1R

CMMB Trading

business business Total
CMMB 21 B 5 W M5

US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TET TE7T T£7T
2,352 4,986 7,338
(18,738) 1) (18,829)
(49,599)
4
(2,490)
(4,054)
(74,968)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2. Segment
(loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit from each segment after tax
without allocation of other income, share of results of an associate,
impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss model and
central administration expenses. This is the measure reported
to Company’s executive directors for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales in both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMET

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WE T PES ZH = H IR

W A B2 53 5 BB (A7)

2023
US$’000
T%7t
CMMB business CMMB % 19,594 26,378
Trading business O ES 892 1,188
Total segment assets G AR 20,486 27,566
Unallocated F N
— Property, plant and equipment — W2~ R Bl - -
— Right-of-use assets — ARG E - 253
— Interests in an associate — AT A R A 10,133 10,663
— Other receivables and deposits — JFL Al R i O B A 136 126
— Amount due from a related company — R A TR W A ) BTE 4,779 5,509
— Amount due from an associate — MR 7 A ] B = -
— Bank balances and cash — SRAT A iy LB 859 668
Consolidated total assets A EEMAE 36,393 44,785
2023
US$°000
T%7t
CMMB business CMMBZH$ 11,116 9,716
Trading business EOES 588 908
Total segment liabilities a3 B Bl KL AR 11,704 10,624
Unallocated x4 e
— Accruals — JEsE A 1,030 762
— Lease liabilities — HEAMRE - 280
Consolidated total liabilities A AEBEE 12,734 11,666
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating Wt G B 0 R B AR 4R 2 T 43 i TR
resources between segments: MiSe:

. segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, certain right-of-use assets, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank balances and
cash and certain trade and other receivables; and

. segment liabilities include trade payables, certain accruals,
certain lease liabilities and convertible notes.

SRR LIRS T U Bk
i~ WL - 2T R -
BI85 B 3 A 2% 0 48 2 19
AL - 5 T AT RSB B4 DL
B B 5 KA e Uk 9OR 5

o B AR ELAE 5 A - AT
MEst A - A THE A AR AT

E Y &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIREE

5

132

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major
products and services:

W A B2 53 5 BB (A7)

AN [ A 1 HL A R S IR I i A S
Mranw -

Revenue from contracts with customers

recognised at a point in time: GHRIZIA -
Trading of PCB materials and EV I BB 2% M A R K
other Al related products HABATE & 5

Revenue from contracts with customers

recognised over a period of time: ZUYA -
CMMB service income CMMB i 75 g A
Transmission and broadcasting of TV EARLET B e A R

programs

R —Fp R 2R A E S

PERF I BUERE KRB EF B4

2023

TR TEE

US$’000

T %o

2,913 4,986
13 48
3,468 2,304
6,394 7,338

Trading of PCB materials and other Al related products:

The Group sells PCB materials and other AI related products
directly to customers. Revenue is recognised at the point in time
when control of the products has transferred, being when the
products have been shipped to designed premises and have accepted
by respective customers. The normal credit term is between 15 to
60 days.

CMMB service income:

The Group provides CMMB related service to a third party.
Revenue is recognised over time as the customers of the Group
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Transmission and broadcasting of television programs:
The Group recognise revenue under a channel lease arrangement.
The Group grants the user and operating rights over free-to-air

UHF spectrum TV Stations to its customers (note 15). The Group
charged the customer a fixed fee on a monthly basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BT R P A
IZ\(/\IZI /N Tﬂf‘ﬁ& IZ\ DE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPET ] = HIREE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 W\ 843 #& ¥ (47)
As at 31 December 2024, US$3,468,000 (2023: US$3,468,000) of WZFZAE+ A =+ —H s
unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from transmission and Ko B 6 B ULET B OE Aok B &) /AT
broadcasting of television programs are expected to be recognised 3,468,0003 70 (& — = 4F : 3,468,000
within twelve months period, whereas approximately US$3,468,000 Fo0) FMAE -+ ZAm A wERE > T
(2023: US$6,936,000) of unsatisfied performance obligations iy S AR R ALE H E A R B ETL
resulting from transmission and broadcasting of television programs 3,468,0003% 7T (& — =4 1 6,936,000
are expected to be recognised after twelve months. FEIt) FUAM A+ R H B -
CMMB Trading
business business Total
CMMB ¥ EE Y At
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
T %7t Tt T %L
Amounts included in the measurement of F' A5l & 4> 7R 48 %5 19 K JE
segment profit or loss:
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-F NE+H
=+ HILFE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i R A P RS - (22) (22)
Effective interest expense on convertible ] $ il 2% 4 B P F1| B B 52
notes (722) - (722)
Impairment loss recognised on MY O A AR R (E i 4R
intangible assets (4,817) - (4,817)
Interest expense on lease liabilities L& A A F]E B X - (2) 2
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ELX - =41+-H
=+ —HILFRE
Depreciation of property, plant W2 ~ B Tt A 5
and equipment (12) = (12)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets o R R A AT B = (30) (30)
Effective interest expense on A T R BB
convertible notes (835) - (835)
Impairment loss recognised on I & A O SR (E 18
intangible assets (20,224) - (20,224)
Interest expense on lease liabilities FH 8 B AR B B 32 =

(3) 3)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIREE

5

134

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group principally operates CMMB business in the US (country
of domicile of the operating subsidiaries) and trading business
in Taiwan and Hong Kong. Majority of the non-current assets of
the Group are located in the US except for certain insignificant
non-current assets (such as office equipment and motor vehicles)

which are located in Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

presented based on the location of the operations.

W A B2 53 5 BB (A7)

A G B T R S B (AL MR 4 m R RE
1B %) 8B CMMBEFS & ik £ 8 Fl 77
WA T ST - AR IE B
L 5% I o M A D OO U )
(AN 2 A B PCR) o TR T o o

A BA G A B AR F RO E R
RRYRHE S T AE M 2 5]

(0N

Taiwan
The PRC
Hong Kong

ey
o b
il

2023

.
US$’000
TRIT
3,468 2,304
2,913 3,591
13 48
- 1,395
6,394 7,338

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

AR AT A 265 B MDA Ak A 42 T8 4Lk
ANBE10% MWW -

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Customer E

EFA
%FB
®FC
%D
%FE

2023
—E =

US$°000

R

2,913! 3,591!
1,0442 7802
1,3442 9842

N/A A H 1,395!

1,0802 N/A A%

L Revenue from Trading business

2 Revenue from CMMB business

No other single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for both years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN R RS Eyl b

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPE T = H IR

OTHER INCOME 6 Hul A
2023
e
US$’000
=
Interest income FlLE A 1 2
Other HoAth - 2
1 4
FINANCE COSTS 7 BMABRA
2023
US$°000
T*t
Effective interest expense on convertible A i B R ORI S B
notes 722 835
Interest expense on lease liabilities FHE B A S B 2 9 27
731 862
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8 iR BLB X
2023
B
US$’000
TE7T
Current tax: B[V HA B I -
US income tax 3 [ iy 4581 673 520

Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for
the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable profit
which is calculated at 8.25%, in accordance with the new two-tiered
profits tax rates regime with effect from the year of assessment

2018/2019.

45 A2018/201958 Bl 4F & AL A= 24 09 #r
AR BB R > & AR A
5 R A5 B e 4F A Al w1 RRBL 6 R 16.5%
(R =40 16.5%) IBLRGHE - M
A M R R SR 5 R 22 12,000,0003
JC (¥8.25% w1 5) BR A ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEFWEL =t —HILEE

136

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, US Income Tax is charged
at 24% (2023: 24%) on the estimated assessable profits.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Taiwan Income Tax is
charged at 20% (2023: 20%) on the estimated assessable profits.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onward.

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the loss before

Jr 159 B BA 3 (45
BEZWEFFH=+—HIL4E
BE > 35 B BT A5 Bl AL A6 T RE R BL R Y
24% (K T ZAF 1 24%) BHE -

BE_ZZME+ZH =+ —HILF
B> & W AT A B AL SR SR BL B A Y
20% (ZFE =4 1 20%) 518 o

R B o 8 A 3 T A5 B (T4 2 T 15 B
%) KA ZE AR BUL BRG] > o R B
o E A EE ) FE—H— HRZBE
Fi25% o

P A5 50 B S B4R A 18 A K% HL At 4 T i i

tax per the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other REBBLAT B RB RN T -
comprehensive income as follows:
2023
US$’000
Tt
Loss before tax B B4 I s 4R (8,786) (74,448)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates in the 4% 3 J fA AH BA =) 15 B [ ()
respective jurisdictions 2 B I (1,589) (13,652)
Tax effect of: DL £ JH 0 Bl S 5 28
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose ENEEE -9 120 175
Tax effect of share of results of an associate M fili Bt 5 2\ ] 1) 25 45 1) B 5 5 28 89 8,184
Tax losses not recognised o HiE 52 B IE G 4R 205 519
Temporary differences not recognised A TilE 5 BT W 25 A 1,848 5,294
Income tax expense B 138 B 32 673 520

The Group has unused tax losses of approximately US$4.2 million
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: US$4.0 million) available for
offsetting against future profits, subject to the confirmation of the
relevant tax authority. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMET

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPET ] = HIREE

LOSS BEFORE TAX 9 BRBEATEH
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: [ Bl Al e 48 7 S8 R R 2 45 AR B
2023
US$’000
T%7t
Cost of materials B AR 2,793 4,719
Auditor’s remuneration % S BT P 4 141 128
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ ~ k7 M i i 37 8 - 27
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ARG E e 276 285
Employees benefit costs (including directors’ & & & | sUA (6145 2 35 1 )
emoluments) 609 2,272
Market development expense ?ﬁbﬁ bl 3% B 2 54 137
Expenses relating to short-term leases AR 75 Fg] b X 20 -
Share of results of an associate Wgﬁﬁ Wi 8 08 ) B E 4R 541 49,599
Impairment loss recognised on £l QF E ﬁ@ R RIEN Fi|
intangible assets 4,817 20,224
BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 10 3 5 A R B A
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors of B AT B M AT A 2 B R R B 0
the Company were as follows: 4
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZFZ_WN4EL_H=1+—H
1k 4R B
Executive directors WimES
Wong Chau Chi HKY - - = — =
Fan Kai Ye' e B - - - - -
Han Xu' B! - - - - -
Wang Shu Hang? T & - - - - _
Woo Lan Ying’ e = 36 = 2 38
Non-executive directors EanES
Liu Hui* B fife - - - - -
Yang Yi° Wkt - - - - -
Lui Chun Pong ZRi7E:S = 31 = = 31
Ho Wing Yan® o] 3k ke - 7 - - 7
Independent non-executive directors v 3 ¥ /7 # %
Li Jun 3733 - - - - -
Chow Kin Wing ke 15 = = = 15
Tam Hon Wah g 15 - - - 15
Total st 30 74 - 2 106
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= IVAN
SNE

B 15 iR R B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIREE

10 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

138

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

10 FFEmA KRR &)

WE_F =+ _H=+—H

1R 4E B
Contributions
Salaries Share-based ~ to retirement
and other payment benefits
Fees benefits expenses scheme Total
Fek DBBHER  BICEA ‘
ik HMERN R AR M5t
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
£ T*L TET £ TET
Executive director W EH
Wong Chau Chi ik - 77 - 2 79
Non-executive directors HHEF
Liu Hui* B - - - - -
Chou Tsan Hsiung’ i - - - - -
Yang Y#* B - - - - -
Lui Chun Pong H R - 31 - - 31
Independent non-executive directors . JEH 17 E
Li Jun 37 - - - - -
Chow Kin Wing s 15 - - - 15
Tam Hon Wah HEE 15 - - - 15
Total A5t 30 108 - 2 140

Fan Kai Ye and Han Xu was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 18 March 2024 and resigned as 8 May
2024.

Wang Shu Hang was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 18 March 2024 and resigned on 28 June 2024.

Woo Lan Ying was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 14 May 2024.

Liu Hui resigned as a non-executive director of the Company
on 18 March 2024.

Yang Yi resigned as a non-executive director of the Company
on 28 June 2024.

Ho Wing Yan was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 18 March 2024 and resigned on 28 June 2024.

Chou Tsan Hsiung resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company on 3 May 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMET

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

10 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 10 #®3HimEA MBER 47)
(Continued)

The Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with management of the affairs of the
Group.

Mr. Wong Chau Chi is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2023: nil).

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2023: nil).

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services (2023:
nil).

Save as disclosed in note 22, there is no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such directors
(2023: same).

Saved as disclosed in note 28, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Group was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: same).

bSO R I e A S
SR B 2 s T P M 2 A BRI -

B Jo 2 I8 B A 2 | R BT

o

i

AR B> M S
W AT A 28 PR A (=% =4
fE) o

A AS AR BE o A R S L i B Rl
W AT o] ol e A ) (2 =4
) o

PN

AR B AR 4R BN A S 4R it
5 R I A = O AR AAE (o
TSR ) o

W B k22 48 % # S o MR A DL
o ZRHEE LN NEE L%
10 B AR N B
AR AN 5y (% — =4
HF]) o

i B sE28 T B o AN B E
“NHEFH=+—HILFE > #%
AT 4B R AN 4R [ 2E RS T A AR
fE 5 Hodh— 7y BARN 7 # &5 7 H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024

R N

11 EMPLOYEES BENEFIT COSTS (INCLUDING 11 REEWARA(LFEEHEMSL)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2023
oE =
US$’000
T*0
Salaries and other benefits B A K H A AR A 482 530
Directors’ fee, salaries and other benefits RS - F e N HAE A 104 138
Share-based payment expense DB 15y o 2 8 1) AT 3B S 6 1,588
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme B /K 4 1l 5 #1 {2k 3K 17 16
Total employee benefit expense 1 B 45 M BH =7 44 %8 609 2,272
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the WAEE AL REHMA+F > —4
Group, there was one director whose emoluments are included (CE A — &) EHNM A S
in the disclosures in note 10 (2023: one). The emoluments of the Mtz 10 EE - HEpmg (—F =
remaining four (2023: four) individuals were as follows: mA) NErmaamr :
2023
oE =
US$’000
TE0
Salaries and other benefits B A K H A AR A 317 336
Share-based payment expense DR A9y o 8 1) AT 3 B S = 1,508
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 3B /K 4 Fl 5 #1 Ak 7 11 9
328 1,853
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMET

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

EMPLOYEES BENEFIT COSTS (INCLUDING 11 EE®RAMEA(LIEEHRENE) 47)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands: % 25 B9 M 4 A S DL i E
2023
=
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 G % 1,000,000 70
(equivalent US$63,898 to US$127,796) (R 72 63,8983K I £ 127,796
En) 4 _
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7T £ 3,500,000% 7T
(equivalent to US$384,525 to US$448,612) (FH % 74 384,525F L &
448,61237C) - 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T %4,000,000% 7T
(equivalent to US$448,613 to US$512,700)  (HHH it448,6133E T HE
512,7003% 7T) - 2
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no WE_FOWNER F=F+ A
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors of the S el & T S92 SN N Y LI 3 I NN
Company or the five highest-paid individuals as an inducement EE L EIRVATE = FNS RN (VR
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of el I A B T A A 4R [ R 2 < s A
office. By R KWk A 2 BEAE -
DIVIDEND 12 ’E
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the HEHAERRBE _Z WER-F
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. CEAET A= B OR R EIRA R
oo
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142

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the owners of the Company for the year is based on the following
data:

13

(53, 7 i<
AR AR AT N A i i S AR K 4 v
fE TR AR LT B R E

2023
Loss for the year attributable to the owners ¢ W 5153 45 A #4040 1R
of the Company for the purpose of RN NNEE 7 ¥ =N
calculating diluted loss FEN R (FFEC)
per share (US$°000) (8,923) (66,813)
(Restated)*
(KEF )"
Number of ordinary shares W I H
Weighted average number of ordinary i T 5 g e R A o 4 Ry
shares for the purposes of calculating Jr P 1) 35 28 8 i
basic loss per share - 35 g 89,619,494 83,930,286
Loss per share (US$) R (3£0) (0.10) (0.80)

The Company completed a share consolidation during the year ended
31 December 2024, in which every twenty existing ordinary shares
were consolidated into one ordinary share (note 24). The loss per
share for the prior year has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the
share consolidation.

Diluted losses per share is calculated by dividing net loss
attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of
outstanding ordinary shares in issue and dilutive ordinary share
equivalents outstanding during the year. Dilutive ordinary share
equivalents include shares issuable upon the exercise or settlement
of share options and convertible notes issued by the Company.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the share options
and convertible notes issued by the Company were not included
in the calculation of diluted losses per share because of their
anti-dilutive effect. Therefore, diluted losses per share were equal
to basic losses per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 W2 - W Rk

Office
Leasehold Motor TV and other
improvements vehicles equipment equipment Total
WAZR
HELE b LR HA s st
US$°000 US$7000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
T#x T#7x TH#7 TH#7x T#7
COST A
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, ~ RZZ-ZH—-H—H -
1 January 2024 “ECEEFCAZH-HE
“E-NE-A-H 250 115 205 604 1,194
Disposal ik (250) o1 - (188) (529)
At 31 December 2024 WoEZZEFCA=—H
“ECME-A-RR
CEIMEFZAZ 0 - 24 205 416 665
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION PR
At 1 January 2023 WoZ-ZF—H—H 250 115 213 589 1,167
Provided for the year BRI - - 12 15 2
At 31 December 2023 and REFZZHEFZAZF AR
1 January 2024 ZRZWE-A—R 250 15 225 604 1,194
Disposal HE (250) 91) - (188) (529)
At 31 December 2024 WoEZZWEF-H=+—H - 24 225 416 665
CARRYING VALUE e T

At 31 December 2024 WoE-NEF-A=+—H - - - - -

At 31 December 2023 RZEZZFFZAZA—H - - - - -

EA 3~ DS K B I % LA AR A

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated

on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: RUDLNH SR EEHETE
Leasehold improvements 33% or shorter of lease R 33%E A1
terms (AR S 35 o YE )
Motor vehicles 20% RE 20%
TV equipment 20% A R 20%
Office and other equipment 10-33% WA= R HALRME  10-33%
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 WE®HE
Spectrum
usage rights
BE % 1 T RE
US$’000
T£7T
COST %N
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 2024 AN_E - ZH—H—H s —_E ="K
—ERZNE+ZH=1+—H 87,380
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT H5HAA
At 1 January 2023 }3/»‘473# =#—H—H 43,349
Impairment recognised iR RIER 20,224
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 MWoEFE -_=F+_H=+—HK
QYQM$ H—H 63,573
Impairment recognised R e 4,817
At 31 December 2024 WZEZWAE+ A =1+—H 68,390
CARRYING VALUE R THI i
At 31 December 2024 ATE E+HA=+—H 18,990
At 31 December 2023 WoE =%+ _"HA=+—H 23,807

The spectrum usage rights represented user and operating rights
over free-to-air UHF Spectrum TV Stations inclusive of the
spectrum usage right, broadcasting rights and operating facilities
in US metropolitan cities, such as New York, Los Angeles, Dallas,
San Francisco, Atlanta, Miami and Tampa.

Section 310 of the US rules and regulations places certain
restrictions on foreign investment in and ownership of a US
broadcast licensee. The Group conducts their CMMB business in
the US principally through a finance lease agreement with New
York Broadband LLC (“NYBB”) and New York Spectrum Holdings
Company LLC (“NYSHC”) being the lessor. The Directors
are of the view that such lease agreement is valid, binding and
enforceable, and does not result in any violation of the US rules and
regulations currently in effect in all material respects.

The spectrum usage rights are subject to renewal from time to time.
The Directors are of the view that NYBB/NYSHC is able to renew
the license rights with the authority indefinitely at minimal costs.
Accordingly, the useful life of the spectrum usage rights is regarded
as indefinite.
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2 B 12 B K% B A 5 3 1016k 3 7E 5 B B 4%
(9 S0 5 R R RN B ARG N T
T BRI o A< 4R F 3= 20975 i B A A New
York Broadband LLC ([NYBBJ) K&New
York Spectrum Holdings Company LLC
(TNYSHC ) & 3z i i ¥ i 5 1o il 76 52
B A8 HCMMB %5 - 6 $1 58 /3 i T 5
i ke J A &L~ B0 HrT AT - SEAE T
A R N & BT R 5 Bk
B KL o

B T AR A - EHRE
NYBB/NY SHC 1] % f5 % A A4S 41 12 1A b 1]
H TR 4 A R O R RE o DRI RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The management conducted an impairment assessment on the
spectrum usage rights on the reporting date. Each spectrum usage
right in each city is treated as a CGU. The Group’s intangible assets
were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, a professional
valuer not related to the Group. The Directors determined that as
at 31 December 2024, there is an impairment loss of approximately
US$4,817,000 (2023: US$20,224,000) recognised for the spectrum
usage rights by reference to the VIU calculation, which has been
consistently applied for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively.

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above spectrum usage
rights and their underlying assumptions are summarised below:

One of the key assumptions for the VIU calculations is the budgeted
revenue. Regarding the spectrum usage rights within other cities
(other than New York), the Directors assume the contracted
capacity will continue for the next two years (2023: three years),
with the same amount of forecasted revenue assumed for the third
year. A growth rate of 2.06% (2023: 2.18%) is projected for the
terminal year. For assessment purpose, no unutilised capacity
will be filled. Such estimation is based on the past performance
and management’s experience. A provision for impairment of
approximately US$4,817,000 (2023: US$5,135,000) was made for
the spectrum usage rights.

Regarding the spectrum usage rights for New York, as at 31
December 2023, the Directors had reviewed their latest business
plan and considered that there will be no expected capacity to be
utilised under the spectrum usage rights in New York, as a result,
full impairment of approximately US$15,089,000 was made for the
spectrum usage right for New York.
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e BT R P A
Ara B IS R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPET ] = HIREE

T & R (A7)

A S A R R A S E IR A
8 o AR 30K 7T 19 25 S R ol P S8 4 7 B
S e A B o AR [ ML R i B AR
45 7 0 B8] 10 S 2 A0 (Rl R B ST AL A BR A
FIHEATAN(E - BB HEHE T T UFE K
SR T A= HIEFES R
B O A R E A RN A R R
%E:x;ME+*H*+ H > 2
R AE R P R ek (S $E494,817,00095 70
(ZF =4 120,224,000 70)

3 AR 4 T A [ e A A
A Bl AR e Bt

ff AR E R B SR — B TE A
A » ﬂﬁmmml%»%% ) B B G il
FAMET S Sk A A SR A A
KA A (T =4 E NE
SR 2R = EMEMWAﬁﬁEOﬁJ
BAER PR R E2.06% (& .=
zm% %ﬁﬁﬁm,Imiﬁmm&
TR OEA o AN R R
R G W SR B T AR o B AE RS
HE wH B ol (B 4% 45 494,817,000 7T (—

TUZ4E 05,135,000 9C0) o

AL AT R SEGE G A S > R R =
A=+ —H > EHCFEMILREN
SEHS w58 5 1 A 0 R AL A 1) SE RE
i AHETE NI B > SO AL A Y 3E
) B T R 2 E 0 (E £915,089,0005%
j‘E o

20244E IR R BRI A F 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=lANY=
ArEH

5 MR M 7

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR

15

146

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the spectrum usage rights has been
determined based on a VIU calculation. The calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management covering a three-year period at a discount rate of
15.30% (2023: 15.26%). The discount rate is determined based on
the weighted average cost of capital appropriate for the spectrum
usage rights. The cost of equity of 12.27% (2023: 13.43%) for
the year is calculated by: (i) the risk free rate of 4.58% (2023:
3.87%), which is the 10 year average yield of US Government
Bond Benchmark Yield Curve; (ii) the equity beta of 0.67 (2023:
0.91), which is the adjusted beta by making reference to publicly
listed companies with comparable business nature and operation
sourced from Thomson Reuters; and (iii) the market risk premium
of 7.17% (2023: 7.17%), which is the difference between market
rate of return and risk free rate. This long term equity risk premium
refers to the 10-year average market rate of return for the United
States, sourced from Thomson Reuters. The cost of debt of 7.65%
(2023: 8.5%) for the year is estimated by referring to the US
Prime Lending Rate as sourced from Thomson Reuters. Through
the analysis of the industry comparables, the weight of debt and
equity is estimated as 75% (2023: 72%) and 25% (2023: 28%)
respectively. The specific risk premium this year is 3.50% (2023:
3.50%). The spectrum usage rights’ cash flow beyond the three-year
period (2023: three year period) are extrapolated using a steady
growth rate of 2.06% (2023: 2.18%) per annum. This growth
rate is based on projected inflation published by the International
Monetary Fund.

As at 31 December 2024, a one percent decrease in the terminal
growth rate would result in an additional impairment of
approximately US$1,037,000 (2023: US$1,318,000), while one
percent increase in the pre-tax discount rate would result in an
additional impairment of approximately US$1,347,000 (2023:
US$1,716,000).

Further to the above inputs, management have also considered
these factors — (a) the FCC licences for the spectrum usage rights
can be renewed upon expiry at nominal cost; (b) the contracting
parties for the existing lease contracts are acting in accordance
with the agreements’ terms and conditions and other understanding
discussed between the parties; (c) the level of key management,
competent personnel and technical staff retained to support the
ongoing operations have remained consistent over time.
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16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 16 fFRHEEEEME AR

7 B R B A B A R AR RN A

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a

lessee. %k o

Right-of-use assets 1 Ji B &
2023
US$°000
TEIT
Right-of-use assets 55 JH HE 2 e
Office premises WA 18 293
Lease liabilities ME A
Current b 23 302
Non-current IF i Eh 4 27
27 329

There is no addition to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: US$66,000).

BEZX _NE+—_H=+—HIk
AERE > AMEEVR E YR E (—
T =AF 66,0005 0) ©

20244E R L B IR IR A F 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=lANY=
ArEH

5 MR M 7

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

148

16 fEHAREEERME AR H)

Depreciation charge of AR EYE
right-of-use assets
Office premises b /N ES

Interest expenses on lease

liability (note 7) (F5E7)
Expenses relating to short-term lease A B A FH & 0 B 3
(note 9) (B 5E9)

Total cash outflow for lease liabilities

LB £ A A FILEL B 52

BB A0 B < U o AR

2023

B
US$’000
TRt
276 285
9 27
20 -
332 312

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets have been charged
in administrative expenses.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one to three years (2023: same) with no renewal option.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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—AN ﬁ 7& = {T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 W& o vl B 2
2023
—E =
US$°000
T £
Initial cost of unlisted investment in an FEmEEARREZ
associate WG A 238,350 238,350
Share of results of an associate JRE A W 7 2 FD 0 SE A (228,188) (227,647)
Share of exchange difference of an associate [ 1\ B %5/ 7] B [E b6 25 % (29) (40)
Total Bt 10,133 10,663
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 PR MR R EAE T = —
are as follows: H > AEBB S AFRNFEEOT
Country of
registration and Paid-up Attributable equity
principal place of registered interest held
Name of associate operation capital by the Group Principal activity
RE R 3% B K R A 5 ) i i B
Tk 4 W 44 1 FEB C ARk & A AN A 2 1 FEEH
Direct Indirect
Hi% Tl $
Silkwave Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands/ US$5,625 20% - Investment holding

Hong Kong
bR RS ik 5.625% T

Silkwave Asia Limited The Cayman Islands/ US$1,000
Hong Kong
FERE /& 1,000 7t

- 20%  Investment holding

BE P

The Company holds 20% equity interests in Silkwave Holdings
Limited (“Silkwave”) and a call option to acquire additional 31%
equity interests in Silkwave (“Call Option”) with an exercise
price of US$500,000,000. Through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Silkwave indirectly holds a geosynchronous L-band satellite
operating platform, including the AsiaStar satellite capacity, its
40MHz spectrum frequency use and orbital slots.

7% 7] #§ 41 Silkwave Holdings Limited
([ Silkwave J) 20%J1% i & 14500,000,000
2 50 19 47 1 18 Wi B Silkwave A 7M319% B
RE () 32 W5 B RE (TRR S A ME ) ol K
2B S T o SilkwavelH] 1 E A Bk
F L B R EE & > Wiz
EEERE - AOMHzAH % 6 ) K s 7
E o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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17 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised consolidated financial information in respect
of Silkwave is set out below, which represents amounts shown
in Silkwave’s consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs. Silkwave is accounted for using the

equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

17

Wi 2% 2 wIHE % (47

A BSilkwave ) &5 A W15 & R 2 # 71
R > HAY K Silkwave R 1 F 5 7 i
e U ) A YY) A A S R T R o
Silkwavefi F i 35 2 45 & WS R A
,@IE o

150

2023
e
US$’000
FExT
Current assets i) & 4 5
Non-current assets I B 58,426 58,426
Current liabilities A fE (7,761) (5,114)
Net assets B E 50,669 53,317
2023
e S
US$’000
T %0
Revenue A - -
Loss for the year AN 1R (2,705) (247,997)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HiAh 2w i A~ (E518) 57 (375)
Total comprehensive loss 4 T s 8 A 3R (2,648) (248,372)

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$541,000 (2023:
US$49,599,000) for its 20% interests in Silkwave.

Silkwave had been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite
assets such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years
Silkwave has been preparing its network infrastructure, technology,
and ecosystem platform and has been conducting trial services
throughout China. It has been awaiting regulatory approvals from
various government agencies to launch its commercial services,
which in turn will allow the Company to start generating revenues.
Due to numerous government delays, the expected regulatory
approvals have not yet arrived, and Silkwave cannot commence
commercial services.
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INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The slow capital market activities seriously delayed Silkwave’s
fund-raising effort for constructing and launching a new high-power
satellite, which is needed for commercial service rollout in a
mass-market scale. The lack of regulatory approval also hampered
the fund-raising process. Accordingly, the management has
assessed and revised its commercial operations and the expected
cashflow and revenue streams associated with the business.
As at 31 December 2023, Silkwave plans to leasing out spare
satellite bandwidth and has been negotiating with other aerospace
operators during the year ended 31 December 2024 in who had
communication needs, given the satellite bandwidth is scale
asset for communication between satellites and ground station
and receiver, instead of developing the satellite connected car
multimedia business in China. This allows Silkwave effectively
utilise existing satellite resource for profit generating activities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
management of the associate has evaluated the impairment of
the satellite related assets by way of value in use calculation by
reference to the discounted cash flows derived from financial
budgets approved by the management. As at 31 December 2024,
the recoverable amount of the satellite related assets amounted to
approximately US$67,730,000, which is higher than its carrying
amount. There was no impairment loss for the year ended 31
December 2024. As at 31 December 2023, as VIU of the satellite
related assets was lower than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the satellite related asset was reduced to its VIU of
approximately US$58,424,000 with an impairment loss recognised
in profit or loss of Silkwave. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the non-current assets of Silkwave primarily consists of the satellite
related intangible assets.

The recoverable amount of the satellite related assets has been
determined based on a VIU calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by Silkwave’s
management at a discount rate of 21.39% (2023: 21.68%). The
satellite related assets’ cash flow beyond the forecast period are
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.00% (2023: 2.50%) per
annum. This growth rate is based on projected inflation. One of the
key assumptions for the VIU calculations is the budgeted revenue,
which assumes satellite related assets will generate revenue from
2027 (2023: same) based on Silkwave management’s best estimate.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in
the associate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPET ] = HIREE

I 2% s W RE %5 (A7)

GRS B A B M AE T
Silkwave ¥ 4 & 4 ) i 2 %5 A0 35 5158 1
EIIREENS ) BRI
I TR R T LT Y o B 2 AR 1Y
HeE RO mE T EEE S WE - NIt F
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RN TEINR SR EMIRAR - R
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HE_ZFZ WELE -F _=F1+_H
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EHEHEMN NS EE T EAR
R 2 > AGE T (8 Oy AR i
ARG E R o B S F AE+ A
= AR B A Y AT i e 4 A
#) F567,730,0003 7€ > = i H R T (E -
HE_F WE+_A=+—HI4
LSRN F = I - oy |
= Hy R R A BE R
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8 (8 7153k 2 - %k Bk 6 AR i
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i BT B R #R01.39% (T AR
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Z BB AR 2R 8 E2.00% (%
TR 1 2.50%) 1 FE E R RO AT
B oo MR R ENFEFIERRGH -
ffi EEF AN E R — B EE
g A > H R Silkwave & B & 1Y & {3 1L
Ao B EMBEEEME F L4
(=4 MF) B A -

0L B A A 2 AR W
KA

KRl Z W a2 B

20244E IR R BRI A F 151



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPEF ] = HIRAEE

17 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17 &N wlHELR (47)
Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial b SR B AE G B RS OB L A A IS R
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Silkwave HR e RR Y Silkwave RE 6 S T (B 1 3R -

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023

US$°000

TET

Net assets of Silkwave Silkwave ) & 2 (4 50,669 53,317
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A4 B ik Silkwave Y

interest in Silkwave T ERE £ LL 20% 20%
Share of net assets of the Group in 7 AE [ A Silkwave

Silkwave B R E A # 10,133 10,663

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18 VX FHE#H T AEHBEN SR

PROFIT OR LOSS 283

2023
-
US$7000
T
Unlisted investment designated at 62 B LA T EEZ B A E B

FVTPL (note (a)) B IE B IRE (M) - -
Call Option granted (note (b)) T RR W SIRE (BT (b)) - -
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)  The Group entered into a joint venture agreement on 31 March 2015
to acquire 3% equity interests in Soaring Idea Holdings Limited
(“Soaring”) at the consideration of US$2,000,000. The acquisition
was completed on 25 May 2015.

The Directors recognised a fair value loss of US$2,118,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2016 as Soaring recorded significant
deficits and negative cash flow. There were no changes to the
circumstances which led to the impairment in the prior year.

(b)  As disclosed in note 17, a call option to acquire an additional 31%
equity interests in Silkwave at an exercise price of US$500,000,000
was granted to the Company in the acquisition. The Directors
determined the fair value of the Call Option was nil as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 respectively.

In 2020, the Directors recognised a fair value loss of US$1,050,000
for the Call Option after the assessing and revising its commercial
operations, the expected cashflow and revenue streams associated
with the business due to the delay in the regulatory and high-power
satellite procurement, hence the unlikeliness that the Call Option
will become effective when Silkwave generates an earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) of
US$200,000,000 based on the audited report in any given year during
the 7-years period of the Call Option. There were no changes to the
circumstances which led to the impairment in the prior year.

18

—AN ﬁ VK = 1T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

VA2 P 18 52 8 5t A 5 0148 2% 0 <l
WH3E

(a) AEFR -F—HEZA=T—H%
BB & Tk AR 82,000,000 55 T i
i ELEE A BR A | (THE SR D) M3%
BE o Ui —F—HFELHA Z+
H 58 B »

mik RS ERAERARSR
B MOERMREE _F - ANE+
AZ+—HILFEELSFHEERE
2,118,0003 JG » 7 & — 4 J& 5 50 (4
B LSl Y A R o

(b)  FANE EELTAT R > AR S FD A i
H#E$2 1.500,000,00032 56 (19 17 {4 18 i 1%
Silkwave#H 413 19% % HE (19 52 18 ) RE -
AR ZNER E S+ A
=t —H o R E R AT
HAAl 5% -

A AR AR SR N A
05 T A K Bh R A R BR Y FE R T A
SR LN > DA LR M
B TE B4 B A AR > TERR
FRME W RE 2 2% P fE I 4R 51,050,000
¥t W B KA Silkwave s 78 i 19 HE
TAF T AT 0] 16 S A B I A6 A% TR
AR~ B B A4 B A 2R
(T EBITDA J) %200,000,0003 7t % >
W2 R N S RE A A e T R SR e
AR o FE b — 47 0 A 1 D
WAk -
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A B SRR I 2
/Zn/\l:l/ﬁ\ 1% 2= P 7
For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIREE

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ¥ 55 B M Al JjE Wk JE
2023
S
US$’000
T*0
Trade receivables = 5 B K IH 1,474 3,838
Less: provision for impairment losses W U e R A (36) (181)
Trade receivables, net 2 I W TE AR 1,438 3,657
Other receivables and deposits At B Wi B TE R 4% 4 146 129
Total Hast 1,584 3,786

The Group generally allows a credit period of between 15 to 60
days to its customers of CMMB Business and Trading Business.
The trade receivables are due from a customer under Trading
Business (2023: one) and three customers under CMMB business
(2023: three) as at 31 December 2024.

The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables, presented

AR 3 F B HICMMB 275 M & 5 75
& FIRAE IS E6OH M5B - A %
“WEF A=+ —H > "B KIE
KEHEDEF TN —KEF (ZF =
o — &) AMICMMBEH TN =4%F
(CFE =M =4) o

T i SR 1 B o B S R R 4

based on invoice dates, as at the end of the reporting period are as HH 25 EER AT -
follows:

2023
US$°000
T %0
0-30 days 0-30H 534 814
31-60 days 31-60H 428 798
61-90 days 61-90H 512 237
91-120 days 91-120H - 297
Over 120 days 120H LA | - 1,692
Total sk 1,474 3,838
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—AN ﬁ VK = 1T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20 SMATHIBRABlE
The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in the AN E I RAT SR IR A DL ) & s
following currencies: H :
2023
US$°000
TEIT
Hong Kong dollar LN 3 462
United States dollar Ey 883 246
Australian dollar LT = 6
Renminbi NS 3 13
Total A5t 889 727
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 B 5 B At BE £F 5k R
2023
e
US$’000
T &
Trade payables A 5 A 31 E 498 797
Accruals MESH& 1,041 767
Total Bt 1,539 1,564
The average credit period granted by its suppliers is 60 days (2023: HEE P 45 T 0P BB B 60 R (%
60 days). The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on TS 60H) o B By B A IR R
invoice date was US$30,000 for 0 to 30 days (2023: US$541,000) = H B AR E 2 4T 2504230 H 30,0003 70
and US$198,000 for 31 to 60 days (2023: US$256,000). (& = 4F £ 541,0003 J6) M31260
H 198,000 7T (— % — = 4F : 256,000
Jo) e
2023
—EETe
US$°000
T &7
Accruals included the following items: EFHEHEREUTIHE -
Auditor’s remuneration % S B 4 237 191
Others* HoAth 804 576
Total 5t 1,041 767
ol Others include accrued general administrative expenses. & A B 45 B R — AT BB 3 o
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=lANY=
ArEH

5 MR M 7

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR

22

23

156

AMOUNTS DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY/AN
ASSOCIATE

22

VB W B8 Wik 2 W)W 2 4 ) Ak O

Due from a related company, Chi Capital

+
>t
on
g
Ly
‘nﬂﬂr
mﬂ

Maximum gross amount outstanding
during the year

Due from an associate, Silkwave JRE U B 25 2 F] Silkwave #K JE
Maximum gross amount outstanding A A e 1 R 1B R AR A

during the year

JRE Wiz BH W 73 W] Chi Capital 50 H

2023

-
US$’000
TR
4,779 5,509
6,953 5,867
4,884 2,298

As at 31 December 2024, the gross receivable amounts due
from Chi Capital and Silkwave amounted to US$6,953,000
(2023: US$5,867,000) and US$4,884,000 (2023: US$2,298,000),
respectively and provision for impairment for amounts due
from Chi Capital and Silkwave amounted to US$2,174,000
(2023: US$358,000) and US$4,884,000 (2023: US$2,298,000),
respectively.

The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable
on demand. The Directors are of the view that these balances will
be settled within one year. Chi Capital is controlled by Mr. Wong, a
director of the Company.

Mr. Wong is a common director of the Company, Chi Capital and
Silkwave.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 3 September 2021, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$65,000,000 (‘2028
Convertible Notes”). The maturity date of the 2028 Convertible
Notes is 3 September 2028 (“2028 CN Maturity Date”) which is
7 years from the date of issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes. The
2028 Convertible Notes are non-interest bearing and will mature
on 2028 CN maturity date at the principal amount. The 2028
Convertible Notes are convertible into shares at any time after the
issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business days prior to the 2028
CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of HK$0.35 each share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.
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ATENEFTZH = —H > B
Chi Capital & Silkwave sk JH 44 %8 7 5l 74
6,953,000% 76 (& =4 : 5,867,000
£ J0) M4,884,0003E T (. F =4
2,298,0003% jt) - MEULChi Capital
K Silkwavezk TH 1Y ¥ (B 5 45 5 FIl &
2,174,000 JT (& — = 4 : 358,000
FJ0) M4,884,0005 70 (K =4
2,298,000 70) -

JENC I B ASFEE - MK B ZE 2k
B o 25 H 00 5 a5 A B IR — AE R4S
% o Chi Capital 48\ W) # 5 Sp A 1
il o

WO A B AR AW - Chi Capital X
SilkwaveZ FL:[H] # & -

W] 6 5 R
MoFEZ—FIJLH =H > KAFEITA
4 465,000,000 JT 9 35 0 71 {H A # A%
B ([ 20280 # B B2 45 ]) - 20287] #
WEEWRB A B - F - ELA=
(M2028ml #a IE =R H D) > BI A
2028 1] 4 f ZE YR 1 54T H WL FHTAE -
ZOZSTﬁﬂimfﬁ%Tnfm\ HA AR &5 8%
JA2028 A 4 I ZL 4 S ) H | ) - 2028 7]
e S ] A B AT R AT AT ] > B &
(EARELFE) 2028 7] #4 i 548 2 HA B 2 1]
S % 25 H A > 4% 4 10,3535 oo 1 46 ik
B W 2 FREA o (ELZEVE R 3 o
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable
upon conversion is 1,444,857,142 shares, which represents 80.03%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and
outstanding as of the issue date of the 2028 Convertible Notes on a
fully diluted basis.

The issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes was split between
a liability component and an equity component in its initial
recognition as follows: (i) Liability component was initially
measured at fair value amounted to approximately US$37,501,000
which represents the present value of the contractually determined
stream of future cash flows discounted at the market interest rate
applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is subsequently
measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest rate
of 8.01% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the
liability component, amounted to US$27,499,000 was presented in
equity as convertible notes reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, principal of
approximately US$8,000,000 of the 2028 Convertible Notes were
converted into shares of the Company.

With effect from 10 October 2024, the conversion price of 2028
Convertible Notes will be adjusted from HKS$0.35 per share to
HK$7.00 per share upon the adoption of share consolidation (note
24).

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of the
2028 Convertible Notes being converted shall be calculated by
using the fixed exchange rate of HK$7.78 per US$1.00.

The movements of the liability component of the 2028 Convertible
Notes for the year are set out below:

23

—AN ﬁ VK = {T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
ME T PE+ A S+ —HIEEE

LIE 3 &3 36

e B IRF 1T BE AT 19 A% 24 W) W R R A
1,444,857,142/% » 52028 7] #2t i 5% 45 5%
17 H B AL B 8 AT BOBAT 1E A 78
HEY80.03% (Fi 78 BB L5 o

2028 7] # [ 2 9 1) B8 17 75 A0 IR HE R
oy B B KRERSE A R ¢ ()
B TN T ER R > &85
37,501,000 76 » Rl 4% & &) 7 & 1 R 2k
B4 A BLAE > HB i AT LAY R AT
BB G R R E - HESE RS
HE8.01% 1) B B SR 42 8 8 AR 51 5 I
Gi)ME £ FR 4 - MIE N BEH D AR S K
INFE 2 I 22 50 4 %A 527,499,000
SETE o MR T 40 S R A i o 51
7N ©

BE - Z - =##+_"H=+—HIL#F
BE > AR 449 548,000,000 JC 192028 1] #2
5 S 45 B e 4t 2 AN R ) IR o

H o U4+ H+ B > 20280] #%
TR PRI AR N PR AN R 0y A A% R
B 00,3595 70 o 28 2 B 7,007 T (B 5E
24)

ol W () 2028 A 48 % 22 AR 4 ) s o0 4
(B 78 % 19:1.0055 JC 5.7.78%5 7T 1Y [ o [
B

A 2028 T i i B 45 A 15 50 40 1Y) B8 )y
SR

At 1 January 2023 R_EFE _=4F—H—H 13,684
Effective interest expenses at 8.01% ¥28.01% 5w+ 5 19 B B A1 8B 3¢ 835
Conversion to shares A 2 7y (5,621)
At 31 December 2023 and MW _=%+"_HA=+—Hx K
1 January 2024 —E _NHE—~H—H 8,898
Effective interest expenses at 8.01% 128.01% w1 5 1Y B B AR B 3¢ 722
At 31 December 2024 RoZE_NE+_H=+—H 9,620
20244 FEHR L P EBMIEARA 157
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A ERAR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR

24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 A
Number of Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of shares of Nominal
HK$0.20 each ~ HK$4.00 each ~ HK$0.01 each value Shown as
BR0.208 Yy ER4.008 L0 K001 T
LR A L% A LRk A [ BV
HKS$°000 US$°000
T TEL
Authorised: I
At 1 January 2023, RoFZ=F—-A—H"
31 December 2023 CECZEFCAZT-H R
and [ January 2024 “ETNE—A—H 25,000,000,000 - - 5,000,000
Share consolidation (note (1)) Mt Bk (W) (25,000,000,000) 1,250,000,000 - -
Share-subdivision (note (i) ME/HRAN (Iff &k (i) ~(1,250,000,000) 500,000,000,000 -
At 31 December 2024 RoZ-WNEF-H=+—H - - 500,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERAZTYE
At 1 January 2023 WoEZHE—-A—H 1,541,861,318 - - 308,373 39,597
Issue of new shares by DA R0
conversion of TRk
convertible notes (note (iii)) (Mt 3 i) 177,828,570 - - 35,566 4,559
Exercise of share options il g
(note (iv)) (W 3E(iv) 72,700,000 - - 14,540 1,856
AU31 December 2023and 1 J =R == SRR
January 2024 R TWE—~A—H 1,792,389,888 - - 358,479 46,012
Share consolidation (note (i) A4 I (BHFk( (1,792,389,888) 89,619,494 - - -
Capital reduction (note (ii)) e W (B N (89,619,494) 89,619,494 (357,583) (45,898)
At 31 December 2024 REFZWE+ZH=+—H - - 89,619,494 896 114
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

()

(1)

(iii)

(iv)

On 8 October 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company was held and the resolutions of the share consolidation of
the Company involving consolidation of the number of shares on the
basis that every twenty issued and unissued shares of HK$0.20 each
be consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$4.00 each were
approved, with effect from 10 October 2024.

On 8 October 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company was held and the resolutions of capital reduction of
issued shares and sub-division of unissued shares which has become
effective on 23 December 2024. The capital reduction of issued
shares and sub-division of unissued shares involved the following:

(a)  the par value of each of the issued consolidated shares be
reduced from HK$4.00 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid up
share capital to the extent of HK$3.99 on each of the issued
consolidated shares by way of a reduction of capital, so as to
form issued new shares with par value of HK$0.01 each; and

(b)  the credit amounted to approximately US$43,898,000 arising
from the capital reduction be credited to the distributable
reserve account of the Company as at the effective date of the
capital reduction.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 177,828,570 conversion
shares have been issued pursuant to the 2028 Convertible Notes (note
23).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 72,700,000 share options
have been exercised and total of 72,700,000 ordinary shares were
issued, giving gross proceeds of approximately HK$31,474,000
(equivalent to approximately US$4,017,000) (note 25).

These new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in issue in all
aspects.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2015”) which was duly passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 18 December 2015. Details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 2 December 2015. The Share Option Scheme 2015 was
terminated on 30 May 2023 pursuant to the resolution passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company on that day.

The Directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2023”) which was duly passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2023. Details of the Share
Option Scheme 2023 are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 28 April 2023.
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e BT R P A
%ww: 1% 2% PN 71

For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPET ] = HIREE

WA (47)
Mitat
(i) ATEPUEFHNH > AN R AT

SR K B A A 26 ) B0 R
PF s % > Hop i g if e m e
DL = A5 150,207 o) C 8 1T MOk

BEAT A0y 2 BEVE A O T — I A A i
4,008 TC A OF By > B R AR
HA+BHRAER -

(i) WMIZEZUAE+THANH AL A E T
B AR R & > T A B E AT B
JIE A 0 e oA R AT I 03 19 B 00 R A 1Y
PREER - NE L =
H A2 o T84T 03 19 B A 1 9 S ok

BEAT I3 14 JE 403 4% A b B AT 4% 7E
(a) &$Mﬁ%ﬁf#5%ﬁmm
3 B THT (EL3. 99 HE TT 5 4 B
k$ﬁ%a%aﬁﬁ%ﬁh%
B 1 (B 1 4,007 7 1 38 220.01#

JG > A T R A B T (L0015 T
B E TR 5 &

(by A HOBEOE AR MR A
43,898,000 JT % 5T A A2 F] b
JBe A W1 ok A sk B 30394 T 3 DR A
HH o

WE-X = F+_A=1+—HI
AR MR PE2028 0] B B4R © B AT
177,828,570 # J1& [ 103 (B 523) o

BE_F = +_A=+— H¢$
BE 5 72,700,000 1 B HE 2 44T (8
FL ¥ 772,700,000 % 3 40 B > fiF 15 *k
TE AR 40 F531,474,0009 76 (R & iR 49
4,017,0003 %) (B 5E25) ©

(i)

(iv)

% 56 T A TE 25 T T BB B AT et = A
[Fi) 45 M A o

Jih Jie HE it
T PR A e R R (1 & — AR
etEst#l]) > R-F—-HEF AN

H AT B A 2 W ORIl K & B IE X
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160

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2023 is to enable the
Group to grant options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards
for their contributions to the Group as well as maintaining on-going
relationships with the eligible persons. All executives, employees,
directors, shareholders of any member of the Group, suppliers of
goods or services, customers, consultants, business or joint venture
partners, franchisees, contractors, agents or representatives of
the Group, and persons or entities that provide design, research,
development, support, advisory, consultancy or professional
services to the Group are eligible persons to the Share Option
Scheme 2023.

The Share Option Scheme 2023 will remain in force for a period of
10 years after the date on which the Share Option Scheme 2023 is
adopted.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
2023 and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on 30 May 2023 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Company
may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit with shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the
shares in the Company in issue as at the date of the shareholders’
approval.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme 2023 and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue from time to time.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2023 and any other
share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-months period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme 2023 at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the grant of options
is made but shall not end later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
Unless otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the offer
of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme 2023 for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option
Scheme 2023 will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(ii) the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company granted
68,400,000 share options (2023 Options”) to certain employees.
These share options were immediately vested upon the grant.
The fair value of the 2023 Options at the date of grant was
HKS$11,813,000 (equivalent to approximately US$1,508,000). The
2023 Options were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an
independent valuer not related to the Group. The fair value was
determined based on Binomial Pricing Model.

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value using the Binomial Pricing Model:

- Exercise price HK$0.435;

- Expected volatility 79.22%;

- Expected life is 3 years;

- Expected dividend yield of 0.00%; and
- Risk free rate of 3.91%.

The Binomial Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the 2023 Options. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in
the variables may materially affect the estimation of the fair value
of an option.

No share options were granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2024. There is no share-based payments expense
recognised in profit or loss (2023: US$1,508,000) related to
equity-settled share-based payment transactions for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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AP R A GBI E 5 i) R
AE B W 28 Ir R B R AE 2R T 0 B 3 i
m@;wmﬁxﬁﬂgﬁ&ﬁgﬁa
HY LR S 2 H R HOERAE 2R T Ak £y
WP T AE -

BE - ZT =4+ "HA=+—HIL#F
§’$ﬁﬂﬁ%¥ﬁﬁ§ﬁwmmw
Py W RE ([ & — AP BERERE D) - 3%
S I RE R AR AR B RE B o R B
> =R AR RN AT E 5
11,813,000 7 (1 % 7% 491,508,0005
JG) o AR T AR WECE B e RN A
PR A (— 5 B A 4 3] 4 B 1) 48 574t
Fili) Al (8 o 23 P18 L — 38 2 2 A8 A Y e

E o

A0 BRI I AUE R R DLE AT
{2 B E AR

- ATfEfH0.435% T

- TAMIPIET9.22% ;

- TRHEHIA3AE

- HEFEHREE0.00% 5 K
- dmJE F M #3.91% e

TIHAE RSO R R A
S B HEE B 1~ (L o U B MR ) 0 (1 s 2 2
FIBUBR B AR 5 B A AL o A B A
149 A e 528 Bl T & 3B S ABCHE 11 22 P (EL Y
il e AR TR S -

BE_Z_WE+ A=+ —HILF
BE o R 40 B R AR B T A T TR
FHBZ o~ AT Rk kRS - B E
FoWEFH =+ —HIEFE >
A HE 25 FP e R B DA RE 25 45 5 DA B 0y B ik
B0 5] 3K 38 20 FH B 1 DA RS 17 26 32 B 114 £
BB 3 (& T =4F 11,508,000 0) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIRFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 25 EIHEEHE (4)
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share BE__EF_=4FF+"HA=+—HIL4F
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023 were as FE s MR I R RE E 7 o M R AT
follows: WERRESEE T
Number of share options
i 4 1
Exercise Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
price Outstanding at during during during 31 December
Date of grant (HK$) Exercise period 1 January 2023 the year the year the year 2023
REBZZE REBZZE
[y d i FZAE-H
il ] (i#7) (i3] WA FRCHH RO FRCER WA
Directors % 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to 8,300,000 - (2,300,000) (6,000,000) -
27 July 2025
CRZZELAZTAR CRIZEEAZTARE
“ZCRFEEACTLE
Consultants B 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to 27,500,000 - (2,000,000 (25,500,000) -
27 July 2025
CECTEEASTAR “ECZELAZEARE
CECRELASTLNA
Employees BT 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000 -
27 July 2025
SECCELACHAR CETTHEENCEARE
CECRELAZTLA
Employees AT 6 September 2023 0435 6 September 2023 to - 68,400,000 (68,400,000) - -
5 September 2026
ZEZZENAARA CECZZERARAE
ZEZAFNLALH
Total it 37,800,000 68400000 (12700000)  (33,500,000) -

Exercisable at the end

of the year AT T AT _

Weighted average exercise IET-¥17 £ {8

price (HKS) (70) 0.400 0435 043 04 =
The number of share option available for grant under the scheme W F =R FZWNE+L A
mandate of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023 =+—H o RS FE T =R
and 2024 are 103,998,988 and 8,961,949 respectively. 8 452 M T AR L 1 B RO HE S H 40

45103,998,9881% 128,961,949 -

162 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2024



26

27
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group and the Company did not have
any significant capital commitments (2023: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years. Both the Group and the employee
contribute a fixed percentage of the relevant payroll,
subject to a maximum mandatory contribution of HK$1,500
(approximately US$192) effective from 1 June 2014 to the
MPF Scheme.

In accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to establish defined
contribution plans managed by the relevant local government
bureau in the PRC and to make contributions to the plan for
its eligible employees. The contribution borne by the Group
is calculated according to the level regulated by the municipal
government.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of US$17,000 (2023:
US$16,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by
the Group in respect of the current year.

26

27

—AN ﬁ 7& = {T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

3]

BREFZWEL A= R AEH
Lo A s w3l S A ] B R AR IS (%

AR ) o
B K 1 A 5

A 4 AR 95 5 A & R AR
BB AEREBNGEKES®
SRR ARE S (R4 5
1) o R AE & B A E E A
HE S BRE  AF UL 2 T
NEI RS o RIFRA ST
B> 4R 3 AR B 204 B e B4
A2 LR T E R R o AR [ i R
S w0 E — BAL B AR PR %L E
BT A5 HE 3K o NI 4 4 2 i itk mT
FAAE WD A AF B B AT IR o AR
4L H R B ¥ A B T s E L
WAL > 1) B A 4w B 5 o A K
) 1 BR B 1,500 ¢ (811923 0) >
BT ENH - HEAR -

FRYEA B P B 1) B i B > v [
Ja&§ 2~ 7] Z8 e S —{f p A A B
77 BUR B4 BR A 5L et )
Sl 7% oA M R B 1 s B A
A o AR B BRI 1) AHE ) AR T BB
JiF R KPR -

H 18 = $0 B 19 48 % A< 17,000% 70 (=%
TSR 16,0003 50) F8 AR 5 AR A
AT 5% 45 5T 1 ) Ak K o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEPEF ] = H IR
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In addition to those related party balances and convertible notes at
the end of the reporting period which are set out in notes 22 and 23
respectively, the Group had the following significant transaction
with a related party during the year:

28

A Mok A\ - 4% 8%

[ 43 A A B 522 Be 23 1 i 4k B oK 7%
ey ) NS DR R E N
o AREEA T ERBEBALLS

Chi Capital Rental paid
2 A

Chi Capital

BT WS IRy 2 R 1Y A 35K B S

Recharge of share based payment expense

2023
.

US$7000

FEe

24 24

6 80

On 31 March 2022, Chi Capital entered into an agreement with
the sole shareholder of International IT Hub Limited (“IITH”)
to acquire 51% of the shares of IITH for a cash consideration of
approximately US$128,000 and share options with a fixed monetary
value equivalent to US$514,000, subject to certain vesting
conditions. The grant of the share options to the sole shareholder is
subject to certain service conditions and certain performance target
of IITH over the next two years. Upon vesting of the share options,
Chi Capital plans to transfer its equity interest in the Group to the
sole shareholder. The Directors are of the view that IITH did not
constitute a business and the consideration payable is to induce the
shareholder of IITH to join the Group for the business development.

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement with Chi Capital to purchase the 51% interest in IITH
for a consideration of HK$1. Since the Group had no obligation
to settle the share-based payment transactions in relation to the
services of the sole shareholder, the Group accounted for the
awards as equity-settled share-based payments. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, share-based payment expenses of
US$6,000 (2023: US$80,000) are recognised in administrative
expenses in profit or loss with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve under equity. Chi Capital has recharged the Group
for the share-based payment arrangement of US$6,000 (2023:
US$80,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such recharge is
recorded as deduction of share option reserve under equity.
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W _oE - _HF£=H=4+—H > Chi
CapitalBInternational IT Hub Limited
(TTITH ) 4 ME — B 35T 57 — JE I 3% »
LB 4 1018 £9128,0003 oC K [ € B
18 (B AH 5 12514,0003€ JG 19 B 11 HE > i
WEIITHIS 19 B 10y - M 20 32 25 T I o ¢
PERIBR o 1) 5% ME — I SR s 188 e E i R
2 T AT N 28 22 2 T IR A IITH— 52
45 H AL PR o 7 W ME B 4% > Chi
Capitalih #1 1 FO7 A< 48 B Y IR i 7 7%
ME—JBE R o B = 58 A TITHE AR — 18
o MEAT A ) B L5 8 R ARl
OTHE A i A A H -

e <=l 11 = By o ol = R /A
Chi Capital#] 2. — TR 155k - DA 1Hs o0
A8 W5 EIITH 51 %0 35 ot i A 22 [
98 26 5 A HE — S SR A R S 4 B DA I
FERERAT RS 5y o AS S I R AE AR B A
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—AN ﬁ 7& = 1T 2
kR A B SRR BN AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
L et S 112 S S I

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 28 BN L PedE
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Company N RN E EEE A S NI4T
during the year were as follows: mr
2023
US$’000
TEIT
Salaries and other benefits B T HoAth A7 A 104 138
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 72 # 4 | 51 #1443k 2 2
106 140
The emoluments of key management personnel are determined by TN BN & & | e KE
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of EMARE AT AR EE -
individuals and market trends.
LITIGATION 29 Wik

On 18 October 2019, Mr. Hamza Farooqui (“Mr. Farooqui”) filed a
claim against Silkwave, the Company, Chi Capital, Mr. Wong Chau
Chi (an executive director of the Company) and three other related
parties of Silkwave for breach of implied contract, quantum meruit,
promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment, breach of contract, fraud
and fraud in the inducement, constructive trust, and defamation (the
“Claim”). In the Claim, it is alleged that, among other matters, the
defendants in the Claim are liable to Mr. Farooqui for certain work
he performed for the benefit of the defendants in connection with
business transactions involving satellite assets in Asia and Africa
and certain compensations. There were no judgments or settlements
have been made in the case as at 31 December 2023 and 2024.

The Directors believe that the Claim is without merit and the
likelihood of a significant loss arising from the Claim is small
thus no provision of the Claim was considered necessary as at 31
December 2023 and 2024. Subsequently on 29 January 2025, the
Claim is dismissed pursuant to the court order.

AZF—JLF+ A+ /\H » Hamza Farooqui
JeE ([ FarooquisGA: ) BE&E R Bom &4 4 %
MR FT I~ RN M A4
B #) -~ WG~ 91 SR HEIRGE ~ iR E 15 AT
ks ) Silkwave ~ A< \) ~ Chi Capital ~ #
B e (R ARFATHEF) KSilkwave =4
HoA B AN LR R (THER]D) AW R
s FLARAE (CLrh L 4E) B R i s N
Farooqui 5t A4 5k ¥ S 50 M I 3R I g B
14 SE 5 28 By B i i NI R 4 I e AT I
PERFE TR G HER - e - T =4F
MR ZWEF A =+ —H > WAREEE
A8 ) e sl i

HREDBL > SRS I HZp
RE A BRI REMER /DN - Rz —
FEOEERCEONEFTF A=+ —H &
TR RATAT B R B o BB N F U HAE
—HZILH s R BEA S B &R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZEZPEF ] = HIRAEE
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 30 Fl& 75 B & 4= Y £ & 2R

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising AR RE A G E AR T T B ) A R AR
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B Wi HE RIFB 2T - flEIEH)
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for FrEE R BT AR SR EIE - 80k
which cash flow were, or future cashflows will be classified in B 4 Uk B R A B B AR S Bl i
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from financing o A3 08T T O B T A Y B T
activities.
Convertible
notes
LE Y &%
US$’000
TET
At 1 January 2023 AR ZAE—H—H 13,684
Effective interest expenses at 8.01% }'“8 01% 155 i B2 B A 2 B 3 835
Conversion to shares AR o 0y (5,621)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 S _73 T A=t —H R
X NNFE—-H—H 8,898
Effective interest expenses at 8.01% 148.01% T 51 B R ALE B 722
As at 31 December 2024 W oEFE _UE+_—H=+—H 9,620

At 1 January 2023

Addition

Interest charged to profit or loss
Payments

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Interest charged to profit or loss

Payments
Exchange difference

At 31 December 2024

Lease liabilities

L £

US$’000

T%£7T
o E - ZF—H—H 551
wE 66
18 2 JE 51 F1 B 27
A7 3K (312)
[ifE 5, 7 %A (3)
R-BZ=F#+_A=Z=+—HK
X THAE—H—H 329
18 2 JE 51 F1 B 9
73K (312)
[ifE 5, 7 &H 1
R_Z_WE+_F=+—H 27
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

31 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 31 AA#AKMEBEAG KR

COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 AN RN R = EA T
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: A=+—H » KA EEMHEA A
MFER AT
Place of incorporation/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/
Establishment/ Class of paid up capital and voting power
Name of subsidiary operations share held held by the Company Principal activities
) FEMAE /WL Fr 5 RAFiiECRATRA )
WEAR LR WHEE fil AR AR T B £ B TR
Directly Indirectly
H# Iil
2023 2023
RO “ECZE
Global Flex Trading Center Limited ~ Samoa/Taiwan Ordinary 100% 100% - - Trading business
Global Flex Trading Center Limited £ /A L FGES
Galactic Venture Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Galactic Venture Holdings Limited KBRE LS B BB
Grand Regal Capital Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Grand Regal Capital Limited RBE LS T gk
Newell Top Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Trading business
Newell Top Limited REELREE gl {UE
CMMB International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - - 65% 65%  Holding of a licensing right
CMMB International Limited i B BRI
International IT Hub Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 51% 51% - - Provision of hardware and
software solutions
International IT Hub Limited Fil L HRALBE I R PR o R
CMMB Vision USA Inc. US Ordinary 51% 51% - - Provision of transmission
(“CMMB Vision USA”) and broadcasting of TV
programs
CMMSB Vision USA Inc. %K LiE TRl RA MR
(TCMMB Vision USAJ)
Chi Vision USA Corporation Us Ordinary 79% 79% - - Provision of transmission
(“Chi Vision”) and broadcasting of TV
programs
Chi Vision USA Corporation X L AL R OB B A
([Chi Vision])
Professional Broadcasting Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100% - - Provision of transmission
Communications Limited and broadcasting of TV
programs
Professional Broadcasting ik Erile AL R B H
Communications Limited
CMMB Satellite Services Limited® Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% - - Provision of satellite services
CMMSB Satellite Services Limited® 7§ LE el M
CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., Ltd.! China Registered - - 100% 100%
capital
MEER () R EE L HE it g A
AR
! CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., Ltd. is registered as a ! R HER (dbgt) BB EE L
wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. A RS & T AR v (B i A A A AR
SR P A 3 o
2 On 30 December 2024, the Group entered into a sale and 2 MoFE_NE+S—H=+H &
purchase agreement to dispose of the entire registered capital EEFT LB E g MBI =
of CMMB Satellite Services Limited to an independent third J7 5 CMMB Satellite Services
party for a consideration of approximately US$8,000. Limited Y 4 78 5 it & 4 > A8
#1 148,000 TG °
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the TNER > BEMEEZ S/ B A W) 2 84T
end of the year. (SR 2 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B S A ) S AR

31 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 31 AAGWBAGWER &
COMPANY (Continued)

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned T % 5 A 4 ] B A 7R
subsidiary of the Company that has material non-controlling HE 7 19 I 2 B W B 4 Al 7
interests

Proportion of ownership

Place of incorporation/ interests and voting rights held Loss allocated to Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary establishment/ operations by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
Ak L,/ P B 4 A 0 VlIRE RS A
W 2 ) 44 WL/ B 4 B B 8 M i Rtk I b
2023 2023 2023
“EOER ZEDER EOEE
US$000 US$°000
T%5 T¥#n
CMMB Vision USA Us 49% 49% - (T415) i 27
CMMB Vision USA FH
Chi Vision Us 21% 21% (536) (740) 5,066 5,602
Chi Vision ¥
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
AT RO 22 9 01
FEEZE MM - - (350) (350)
(536) (8,155) 4,743 52719
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s A B A B B A ORI AR
subsidiaries that has a material non-controlling interest is 14 B JBS 2 D ) B R R )
set out below. The summarised financial information below MR o DA B R 2 A 4 1 A
represents amounts before intra-group eliminations. 2N ) T3 S I A A o
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PARTICULARS
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CMMB Vision USA

OF SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE 31

NN R RS Eyl b
For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

AR 2 ) Bt 2 ) B R

CMMB Vision USA

2023
. ——

US$’000

T3t

Current assets i) B 2,705 2,725

Non-current assets I i By & A = -

Current liabilities e BER (944) (964)

Equity attributable to owners of EN/NEIE ¥EDN S

the Company 1,734 1,734

Non-controlling interests I P It 25 27 27

2023

US$’000

T%7t

Revenue e A — -
Loss and total comprehensive loss A A e 18 T A THT R 1R AR A

for the year - (15,102)
Loss and total comprehensive loss ENYNEIE: 2 DN AT DS

attributable to owners of the Company 4 1H s 18 A AE - (7,687)

Loss and total comprehensive loss TEFE e £ T A e 4 %

attributable to non-controlling interests 4 ] fis 15 AR AR = (7,415)
Loss and total comprehensive expense A A e 18 T 4 TH] B S AR

for the year - (15,102)

There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.

WEF R S
A=t — B L B4 5 -
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A B SRR I 2
%\EJE 1% 2= P 7
For the year ended 31 December 2024
WEZFZWEF A=+ HIREE

31 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 31 A% [ J& 2 %l 6k ()
COMPANY (Continued)
Chi Vision Chi Vision
2023
US$°000
T %70
Current assets i B 16,604 13,654
Non-current assets JE Wi B = 18,989 23,806
Current liabilities it B AAE (11,522) (10,849)
Equity attributable to owners of the AN EV AN A HE 4
Company 19,005 21,009
Non-controlling interests JE 52 A 25 5,066 5,602
2023
US$’000
T %7
Revenue A 3,468 2,304
Loss and total comprehensive loss A A s 1E
for the year 4 TH 5 1R AR AE (2,540) (3,595)
Loss and total comprehensive loss A0S Al A N AN s 18
attributable to owners of the Company 2 TH i 4R AR AR (2,004) (2,855)
Loss and total comprehensive loss IF P2 B RE 25 1A s 48 2
attributable to non-controlling interests 4 TH s 1 AR AE (536) (740)
Loss and total comprehensive loss AN s 1
for the year 4 1H 5 18 AR AR (2,540) (3,595)

There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023

32 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, on 11 February 2025, the Company has entered into the
subscription agreements with the subscribers for the subscription of
5,700,000 shares at the subscription price of HK$0.85 per share for
an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$4,845,000. The
subscription was completed on 24 February 2025.
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% % 45 W5 i 35 L Ath 350 40 BT B 5% 2 b
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33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

= A

I Ay

B 15 R R B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FE A = AR

33 A2 W) BB IR DU e K Gl s

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries

Investment in an associate

Rights-of-use assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Current assets

Other receivables and deposits
Amount due from a related company
Amount due from an associate

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Other payables
Lease liabilities

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible notes

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

ZER
R RERE
T 2F

CEEEESES
S>EHZTHEH

ﬂ

pe

i

BB - &
I RE Pk ) ) P e

B> B
R

T I S
K>

¥ o ot i S
A=
1 5 58 o I

o

RIS B

s

&l 3l
B S

TR =T
pl
P

\
A
5
A

=
=8
I 5 I

i B ¥
B R0 V9 B 1
I U B £1 18

B A5 B Ja 2 ) 3
] 4 SR R

B

A e ik i
JeAs
it 45

HE £ik 48 31

&
i
Bk

2023

e
US$’000
T %t
37,406 37,387
10,133 10,663
- 253
47,539 48,303
127 126
3,678 2,600
859 663
4,664 3,389
1,030 767
- 280
1,030 1,047
3,634 2,342
51,173 50,645
12,078 7,195
9,620 8,898
21,698 16,093
29,475 34,552
24 114 46,012
33(b) 29,361 (11,460)
29,475 34,552

The statement of financial position was approved by the
Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and is signed on its

behalf by:

DIRECTOR
HF

MBERARER T _HFE=H
=t —-AEEEGHRE WHUT

NEREEREE

DIRECTOR
#HF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

WEFEF A= HIREE

B 15 ¥R M ot

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33 AKX 6 W #HRDIE K )
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Share Convertible
Share Merger Distributable Option Capital notes  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
LE
Rebrig®  aGRE WARGE BRERE  GARE  FREE  EHER At
US$000 US§000 US$°000 US$°000 US$000 US§000 US$°000 US$°000
TEx Tin TEx TEx TEx TEn TEx TEx
At 1 January 2023 REF-=E-H—H 71,953 31,987 129,757 605 2,105 8,468 (205,321) 39,554
Loss for the year and total comprehensive 4 [ 54 ] £ 1
loss for the year AHERAH - - - - - - (55,45)  (55.145)
Exercise of share options fr b Be e 1 3,750 - - (1,589) - - - 2,161
Cancellation of share options R - - - (524) - - 524 -
Conversion of convertible notes R EE 4437 - - - - (3375) - 1,062
Recognition of equity settled BEAUER S ARG A
share-based payment expense ETHIECER - - - 1,508 - - - 1,508
At31 December 2023 and | January 2024~ R-FZZEFZH=1-0
P Sl Ly 80,140 31,987 129,757 - 2,105 5,093 (260,542) (11,460)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive 4 [ 54 L JE R
loss for the year AHERAH - - - - - - (5,017) (5.077)
Capital reduction Rehl - - 45,898 - - - - 45,898
At 31 December 2024 REZE-MEF-H=+—H 80,140 31,987 175,655 - 2,105 5,093 (265,619) 29,361
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